
 

 

Tommy Dunn 
Chairman, District Five 

 
Brett Sanders 

V. Chairman, District Four 

PO Box 8002, Anderson, South Carolina 29622-8002 | www.andersoncountysc.org 
 
 

John B. Wright, Jr. 
District One 

 
Glenn Davis 

District Two 

Ray Graham 
District Three 

 
Jimmy Davis 

District Six 

M. Cindy Wilson 
District Seven 

 
Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 

 
 
 

Rusty Burns 
County Administrator 

 
 
 
 
 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL 
Special Presentation Meeting 

Tuesday, May 17, 2022, at 6:00 p.m. 
Historic Courthouse 
101 S. Main Street 

Anderson, South Carolina 
Chairman Tommy Dunn, Presiding 

 
 
 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
 
 
2. RESOLUTIONS/PROCLAMATION: 
 
 
    
  
   a. R2022-026: A Resolution honoring the life and service of Jacky Hunter; and other matters related thereto. 
 

Hon. Cindy Wilson 
 
 

   b. R2022-029: A Resolution to proclaim May 21-27, 2022, as National Safe Boating Week; and other matters   
related thereto 

 
  Hon. Tommy Dunn 

 
 

   c. R2022-031: A Resolution to honor and recognize Mr. Braxton Louch, a senior at Crescent High School, for his    
extraordinary efforts to support animal welfare in Anderson County that have made him the largest private 
donor in the history of Anderson County PAWS Animal Shelter; and other matters related thereto. 

 
Hon. Ray Graham 

 
 
 
 

3. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 
 



 
 
Anderson County Council Meeting Agenda, May 17, 2022 
 
Page 2 

 

   
 

 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING 

Tuesday, May 17, 2022, at 6:30 p.m. 
Historic Courthouse 
101 S. Main Street 

Anderson, South Carolina 
Chairman Tommy Dunn, Presiding 

 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER     
 
 
2. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE                                                         Hon. Glenn Davis 
 
 
 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES                                                                                                               May 3, 2022 
 
 
 
4. CITIZENS COMMENTS                                                                                                         Non-Agenda Matters    
 
 
                                                                                 
 
5. ORDINANCE THIRD READING:  
 
    a. 2022-012: An Ordinance authorizing (1) The execution and delivery of a fee in lieu of tax and incentive 

agreement by and between Anderson County, South Carolina (“The County”) and Evergreen Road Anderson, 
LLC and FedEx Ground Package System, Inc., companies previously identified, collectively, as Project Highway 
81 Logistics, each acting for itself, one or more affiliates, and/or other project sponsors (collectively, the 
“Companies”), pursuant to which the County shall covenant to accept certain negotiated fees in lieu of ad valorem 
taxes with respect to the establishment and/or expansion of certain facilities in the County (The “Project”); (2) 
The benefits of a multi-county industrial or business park to be made available to the companies and the project 
and the distribution of revenues generated from the project within the County; (3) Certain special source revenue 
credits in connection with the project; and (4) Other matters related thereto. [Project Highway 81 Logistics] 
(PUBLIC HEARING THREE MINUTE TIME LIMIT) 

 
Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 

 
 
   b. 2022-016: An Ordinance authorizing the transfer of real property located at 1299 Three and Twenty Road, 

Easley, South Carolina (TMS NO. 163-00-09-008) to the Three and Twenty Fire Department trustees; and other 
matters related thereto. (PUBLIC HEARING THREE MINUTE TIME LIMIT) 

 
Mr. Rusty Burns (allotted 5 minutes) 

 
 
6. ORDINANCE SECOND READING: None  
 
   
 
 



 
 
Anderson County Council Meeting Agenda, May 17, 2022 
 
Page 3 

 

   
 

 
7. ORDINANCE FIRST READING: 
 
   a. 2022-020: An Ordinance imposing a prohibition on certain motor vehicle traffic on Massey Road (C-02-0100); 

and other matters related thereto. (District 4) 
 

Mr. Matt Hogan (allotted 5 minutes) 
 

   b. 2022-021: An Ordinance to amend an agreement for the development of a joint county industrial and business 
park (2010 Park) of Anderson and Greenville Counties so as to enlarge the park; and other matters related 
thereto. (Project Kane) 

 
Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 

 
   c. 2022-022: An Ordinance to amend Section 38-311(c) of the Anderson County, South Carolina, Code of 

Ordinances to amend the time frame for consideration of previously disapproved projects by the planning 
commission; and other matters related thereto. 

 
Mr. Tommy Dunn (allotted time 5 minutes) 

 
 
 

 
    
 
 
8. RESOLUTIONS: 
 
    a. R2022-030:  A Resolution expressing intent to cease County maintenance on and to authorize County consent 

to judicial abandonment and closure of an unnamed road designated as C-07-0054A; and other matters related 
thereto. (District 7) 

 
Mr. Matt Hogan (allotted 5 minutes) 

 
 
 
9. GETSINGER DRIVE DISTRICT 2 PAVING REQUEST 

Mr. Matt Hogan 
 
 
10. APPOINTMENTS: 
    a. Anderson County Library-Nicole Davenport 
 
 
11. EXECUTIVE SESSION: 
   a. Legal advice subject to the attorney client privilege regarding the Bennett Super Fund site. 
   b. Council Action following Executive Session. 
 
 
 
12. REQUESTS BY COUNCIL: 
    a. Violins of Hope- All Districts 
    b. Miss South Carolina Scholarship Organization-All Districts    
 

 



 
 
Anderson County Council Meeting Agenda, May 17, 2022 
 
Page 4 

 

   
 

 
13. ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT: 
     a. Budget Transfers 
     b. Paving 
     c. Special Projects 
      
 
 
14. CITIZENS COMMENTS               Non-Agenda Matters 
 
 
15. REMARKS FROM COUNCIL 
 
 
16. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 

 

 
Anyone who requires an auxiliary aid or service for effective communication, or a 

modification of policies or procedures in order to participate in this program, service 
or activity please contact the office of the program, service or activity as soon as 

possible but no later than 24 hours before the scheduled event. For assistance, please 
contact the Clerk to Council at (864) 260-1036. 



 
 

 

 

RESOLUTION 2022-026 

A RESOLUTION HONORING THE LIFE AND SERVICE OF 

JACKY HUNTER; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

WHEREAS, Anderson County Auditor Jacky Hunter recently departed from this life, leaving 
behind a community of family, friends, and neighbors saddened by his loss; and,  

WHEREAS, Jacky was, without a doubt, a true Anderson institution, having served for many years 
as the county’s Election Commission Director and Finance Manager prior to assuming elected 
office; and, 

WHEREAS, no matter what position he held, the citizens of Anderson benefited greatly from his 
sharp financial acumen and intuitive sense for numbers; and  

WHEREAS, Jacky was known by his colleagues for his efforts to provide vigilance and oversight 
on behalf of the taxpayer, for whom he left no stone unturned in his mission to ensure accuracy 
and strict adherence to the laws governing the duties to which he had been entrusted; and 

WHEREAS, Jacky will be long and well-remembered by his colleagues and constituents, and 
though he will be missed we take comfort in knowing he has received his Eternal Reward; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Anderson County Council hereby celebrates 
the life and service of George Jackson “Jacky” Hunter Jr., a true friend to us all. We extend our 
sympathies to his loving wife Janis and their family, and thank them for providing Jacky with the 
support he needed to serve our community. He will truly be missed.  

RESOLVED in a meeting duly assembled this 17th day of May, 2022. 

FOR ANDERSON COUNTY:  
 
________________________    _____________________            _____________________         
Tommy Dunn, Chairman                John B. Wright, Jr.                        Glenn Davis 
 District Five       District One                                   District Two 
 
 
_______________________        _____________________           ______________________ 
Ray Graham                                  Brett Sanders                                Jimmy Davis 
District Three                                District Four                                 District Six 
 
 
_______________________         ATTEST:                                    ______________________ 
M. Cindy Wilson                                                                                Renee Watts 
District Seven                                                                                      Clerk to Council 
                                                   ______________________ 
                                                   Rusty Burns 
                                                   County Administrator 



 
 

RESOLUTION R2022-029 

A RESOLUTION TO PROCLAIM MAY 21-27, 2022 AS NATIONAL SAFE BOATING WEEK; 
AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

Whereas, for over 100 million Americans, boating continues to be a popular recreational activity. 
From coast to coast, and everywhere in between, people are taking to the water and enjoying time 
together boating, sailing, paddling, and fishing. During National Safe Boating Week, the U.S. 
Coast Guard and its federal, state, and local safe boating partners encourage all boaters to explore 
and enjoy America's beautiful waters responsibly; and 

Whereas, safe boating begins with preparation. The Coast Guard estimates that human error 
accounts for most boating accidents and that life jackets could prevent nearly 86 percent of 
boating fatalities. Through basic boating safety procedures-carrying lifesaving emergency distress 
and communications equipment, wearing life jackets, attending safe boating courses, participating 
in free boat safety checks, and staying sober when navigating-we can help ensure boaters on 
America's coastal, inland, and offshore waters stay safe throughout the season; and 

Whereas, National Safe Boating Week is observed to bring attention to important life-saving tips 
for recreational boaters so that they can have a safer, more fun experience out on the water 
throughout the year; and 

Whereas, on average, 650 people die each year in boating-related accidents in the U.S.; 75 
percent of these are fatalities caused by drowning; the vast majority of these accidents are caused 
by human error or poor judgment and not by the boat, equipment or environmental factors; and a 
significant number of boaters who lose their lives by drowning each year would be alive today had 
they worn their life jackets. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Anderson County Council hereby supports the 
goals of the Safe Boating Campaign and proclaims May 21-27, 2022, as National Safe Boating 
Week and the start of the year-round effort to promote safe boating, urging all those who boat to 
practice safe boating habits and wear a life jacket at all times while boating. 

RESOLVED in a meeting duly assembled this 17th day of May, 2022. 
 
          FOR ANDERSON COUNTY                                              ATTEST 
 
         ___________________________                                          _____________________________ 
         Tommy Dunn                                                                         Rusty Burns 
         County Council Chairman                                                     County Administrator 
 
 
                                                                                                        ______________________________ 
                                                                                                        Renee Watts 
                                                                                                        Clerk to Council 



 

 

 

RESOLUTION R2022-031 

 

 

A RESOLUTION TO HONOR AND RECOGNIZE MR. BRAXTON LOUCH, A SENIOR AT 

CRESCENT HIGH SCHOOL, FOR HIS EXTRAORDINARY EFFORTS TO SUPPORT ANIMAL 

WELFARE IN ANDERSON COUNTY THAT HAVE MADE HIM THE LARGEST PRIVATE 

DONOR IN THE HISTORY OF ANDERSON COUNTY PAWS ANIMAL SHELTER; AND 

OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

 

Whereas Mr. Braxton Louch, son of Mr. and Mrs. Darren and Teryi Louch, is a senior at Crescent High 

School who has always loved animals and has spent half his life donating to Anderson County PAWS 

Animal Shelter; and 

 

Whereas as a third-grader, Mr. Louch first donated 10 pounds of food to PAWS and then decided that for 

his birthday, instead of receiving gifts for himself, he preferred family and friends donate to PAWS, a 

decision that has transformed Mr. Louch’s young life into one known widely in the community to be marked 

by kindness, generosity, and thoughtfulness towards animals and people; and 

 

Whereas Mr. Louch and his family then established the Cars for a Cause event, an annual fundraiser now 

in its eighth year that combines Braxton’s love of cars and animals and raised $10,000 last year alone, with 

Mr. Louch to turn 18 years old on the day of this year’s event, May 22nd; 

 

Therefore, be it resolved that, in a meeting duly assembled this 17th day of May 2022, the Anderson County 

Council hereby expresses, on behalf of the citizens and animals of Anderson County, its sincere gratitude 

for the great care and generosity Mr. Louch has shown Anderson County PAWS and wishes him and 

expects for him great success in all his future endeavors. 

 

FOR ANDERSON COUNTY                                 ATTEST 

 

_____________________                                      ____________________ 

Tommy Dunn, Chairman                     Rusty Burns 

 District Five                                                           County Administrator  

        

                                                                                                 ____________________ 

                             Renee D. Watts 

                    Clerk to Council 



State of South Carolina   )

County  of     Anderson   )

ANDERSON COUNTY Council
 

SPECIAL PRESENTATION MEETING

MAY 3, 2022

IN ATTENDANCE:
TOMMY DUNN, CHAIRMAN
BRETT SANDERS
JOHN WRIGHT
CINDY WILSON
JIMMY DAVIS
GLENN DAVIS

ALSO PRESENT:
RUSTY BURNS
LEON HARMON
JORDAN THAYER
RENEE WATTS
    



Anderson County Council - Special Presentation Meeting - May 3, 2022
2

1 TOMMY DUNN:   At this time
2 I’d like to call the special presentation meeting of
3 Anderson County of May the 3rd to order.  I’d like to
4 welcome each and every one of y’all here tonight. 
5 Thank y’all for coming.
6 First order of business, Mr. Graham couldn’t be
7 here.  He’s going to be late tonight.  He’s got some
8 constituent service he’s having to take care of.  But
9 he will be -- he said he would try to get here, but he
10 may be late.
11 So we’re going to move on now, item number 2(a),
12 proclamation.  This will be a resolution to proclaim
13 May 15th through 21st, 2022 as National Public Works
14 Week and other matters related thereto.
15 WHEREAS, pubic works professionals focus on
16 infrastructure, facilities and services that are of
17 vital importance to sustainable and resilient
18 communities and to the public health, high quality of
19 life and well-being of the people of Anderson County;
20 and 
21 WHEREAS, these infrastructure, facilities and
22 services could not be provided without the dedicated
23 efforts of public works professionals, who are
24 managers, engineers, and employees at all levels of
25 government and the private sector, who are responsible
26 for rebuilding, improving, and protecting our nation’s
27 transportation, water supply, water treatment and solid
28 waste systems, public buildings, and other structures
29 and facilities essential for our citizens; and
30 WHEREAS, it is in the public interest for the
31 citizens, civic leaders and children in Anderson County
32 to gain knowledge of and to maintain an ongoing
33 interest and understanding of the importance of public
34 works and public works programs in their respective
35 communities; and
36 WHEREAS, the year 2022 marks the 62nd annual
37 National Public Works Week sponsored by the American
38 Public Works Association.
39 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that Anderson County
40 Council does hereby designate the week of May 15 - 21,
41 2022 as National Public Works Week; I urge all citizens
42 to join with representatives of the American Public
43 Works Association and government agencies in
44 activities, events and ceremonies designated to pay
45 tribute to our public works professionals, engineers,
46 managers, and employees and to recognize the
47 substantial contributions they make to protecting our
48 national health, safety, and quality of life.
49 RESOLVED in a meeting duly assembled this 3rd day
50 of May, 2022.  



Anderson County Council - Special Presentation Meeting - May 3, 2022
3

1 I put that in the form of a motion.
2 JIMMY DAVIS:  I’ll second.
3 TOMMY DUNN:   I think all
4 Council managers would like to put that in a motion and
5 all Council members seconds that.  Open the floor up
6 for discussion.
7 CINDY WILSON:  May I?
8 TOMMY DUNN:   Ms. Wilson.
9 CINDY WILSON:  I just want to
10 say a very big thank you to all of these great people
11 and all the many departments.  Whenever there is a
12 constituent need and we call it in, it’s just amazing
13 how prompt the issues are addressed, and we really
14 appreciate it.  We look forward to more in the future. 
15 Thank you.
16 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
17 Anyone else?
18 JIMMY DAVIS:  Mr. Chair.
19 TOMMY DUNN:   Mr. Davis,
20 Jimmy Davis.
21 JIMMY DAVIS:  I just want to
22 echo Ms. Wilson.  I think we have the finest Public
23 Works Department, if not in the state but in the
24 country.  I have the pleasure of working with other
25 public works departments across the Carolinas and
26 Georgia, and I can tell you without a shadow of a
27 doubt, you folks are the finest.  
28 And I remember one time there were some gentlemen
29 that were filling a pothole near my house.  And I just
30 happened to pull up behind them to talk to them.  I
31 didn’t tell them who I was.  I couldn’t get it out of
32 my mouth fast enough.  And they said, is there anything
33 else we can help you with around here?  They were so
34 cordial and courteous about doing their job and doing
35 it the right way.  And I appreciate every department
36 and every person in every department.  You guys are
37 what makes the wheels of Anderson County turn and we
38 greatly appreciate it.
39 Thank you, Mr. Chair.
40 TOMMY DUNN:   Mr. Sanders.
41 BRETT SANDERS:  Yes, sir. 
42 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I just want to echo what my
43 fellow Council members have said.  I appreciate
44 everything you guys do.  Without you guys, I don’t
45 think we would be sitting up here.  And I want to thank
46 you personally for myself and thank you for my
47 constituents in District 4.  You’re appreciated.  Thank
48 you.  
49 TOMMY DUNN:   Mr. Glenn
50 Davis.



Anderson County Council - Special Presentation Meeting - May 3, 2022
4

1 GLENN DAVIS:  Thank you, Mr.
2 Chairman.  I’d also like to piggyback on what everyone
3 else has said.  Prompt attention to every issue/concern
4 that I’ve had the little time that I’ve been here
5 serving the people of Anderson County.  And I want to
6 say thank you with a big felt heart.  Thank you, again.
7 TOMMY DUNN:   Mr. Wright.
8 JOHN WRIGHT:  I don’t want to
9 regurgitate what everybody has said here.  I think
10 we’re all in agreement that our Public Works Department
11 is second to none.  And I’ve had personal experience
12 with that, as well, when it comes to constituent
13 service calls and things like that.  It’s always been
14 incredible responsiveness and I can’t thank you enough. 
15 So on behalf of District 1 and all of Anderson County,
16 thank y’all so much for all that you do.
17 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
18 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you, Mr.
19 Wright.  And I also want to piggyback on what all my
20 Council members say.  But appreciate what all y’all do
21 in making us all look good and representing Anderson
22 County well.  And also want to thank y’all for -- a lot
23 of times when we’re at home and our citizens are at
24 home asleep and there’s a storm comes through or bad
25 weather comes through, y’all are out there risking
26 y’all’s lives and that’s what you’re doing in the dark;
27 trees falling and doing what y’all do to protect the
28 citizens of Anderson County and making sure we can get
29 where we need to go and emergency vehicles can get
30 through and everything.  I know it’s a daunting task,
31 but we really do appreciate it.  
32 I say many, many times what makes Anderson County
33 special is its people.  And y’all are the people of
34 Anderson County and the face of the government and the
35 face of us.  The public sees y’all a lot more than they
36 see us. 
37 We really do appreciate what y’all do for us, and
38 thank y’all very, very much.  Anyone else?  
39 Hearing none, all in favor of the motion show of
40 hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
41 unanimously.  Mr. Burns.
42 PRESENTATION OF RESOLUTION
43 APPLAUSE  
44 TOMMY DUNN:   This will be
45 closing, but I do want to add one last thing for this
46 to go out.  
47 Also I failed to mention, but I want to thank very
48 much, is Mr. Burns started out, when he got to be the
49 Administrator many years ago and it’s worked very good,
50 y’all folks are a very, very big part of our economic



Anderson County Council - Special Presentation Meeting - May 3, 2022
5

1 development.  It’s all of y’all in here from the Solid
2 Waste to the Roads and Bridges to the Sewer Department. 
3 It’s a very big thing.  When we have events at Green
4 Pond, it makes us look good.  All of y’all pitch in and
5 do an outstanding job.  And we appreciate it.  And I
6 think we talk about Roads and Bridges a lot, but also
7 our Solid Waste Department is outstanding what they do
8 down there and make us look good.  Our citizens really
9 compliment what we’ve got.  We’re very lucky to have
10 the system that we’ve got and come from all over
11 looking at what we’re got to try to duplicate it.  I
12 think we’re very, very fortunate for that.  
13 But I just want to thank all of y’all pulling in as
14 a team because we’ve got different departments, but
15 when it all comes down to it, it’s Team Anderson
16 County.  We really do appreciate y’all.  
17 Y’all are more than welcome to stick around for the
18 fun part.  We’ve got a meeting at 6:30.
19
20 SPECIAL PRESENTATION MEETING ADJOURNED AT 6:12 P.M.



6

State of South Carolina   )

County  of     Anderson   )

ANDERSON COUNTY Council
 

COUNTY Council MEETING

MAY 3, 2022

IN ATTENDANCE:
TOMMY DUNN, CHAIRMAN
BRETT SANDERS
JOHN WRIGHT
CINDY WILSON
GLENN DAVIS
JIMMY DAVIS

ALSO PRESENT:
RUSTY BURNS
LEON HARMON
JORDAN THAYER
RENEE WATTS



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - May 3, 2022
7

1 TOMMY DUNN:   At this time
2 I’d like to call the regular Anderson County Council
3 meeting of May the 3rd to order.  I’d like to welcome
4 each and every one of you here tonight.  And thank
5 y’all for coming.
6 First order of business, we’ll ask everybody if
7 they would please rise for the invocation and pledge of
8 allegiance by Councilman John Wright.
9 JOHN WRIGHT:  Let us pray.
10 INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE BY JOHN WRIGHT
11 TOMMY DUNN:   Before we get
12 started, let me do a couple of housekeeping things. 
13 Mr. Graham is going to try to be here, but he’s running
14 late.  He had some constituent stuff he had to do, take
15 care of tonight, but he is going to try to be here. 
16 Appreciate that.
17 Also on the agenda tonight item 9(a) has been
18 pulled and number 11 has been pulled.  It will not be
19 discussed or voted on or any of that.
20 Moving on now, approval of the minutes of April
21 19th, 2022.  Are there any corrections to be made to
22 those?  Seeing and hearing none, do we have a motion to
23 move them forward?
24 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
25 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Ms.
26 Wilson to move them forward and second by Mr. Sanders. 
27 All in favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed
28 like sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously. 
29 Moving on to item number 4, citizens comments. 
30 When Mr. Harmon calls your name, please step forward
31 and state your name and district for the record.  You
32 have three minutes.  Please address the chair.  And
33 you’ve got -- first go-around is on agenda items only. 
34 Mr. Harmon.
35 LEON HARMON:  Mr. Chairman,
36 no one is signed up to speak.
37 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you, Mr.
38 Harmon.
39 Moving on to item number 5, next is our annual
40 report from Appalachian Council of Governments Services
41 to Anderson County.  Mr. Steve Pelissier.  
42 Mr. Burns, will you make sure he can get up here
43 and take care of him.  Or Mr. Burriss Nelson, one. 
44 Make sure he’s pinned up to go.  Thank y’all.
45 Welcome back to Anderson, Steve.  Appreciate seeing
46 you.
47 STEVE PELISSIER:  Thank you. 
48 Thank you, Mr. Chairman, members of County Council.  I
49 appreciate the opportunity to be back with you this
50 evening.  



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - May 3, 2022
8

1 Again, my name is Steve Pelissier and I’m the
2 Director with the Appalachian Council of Governments
3 and I’ve worked with Anderson County for thirty-two
4 years now in various roles with the Council of
5 Governments.  And always enjoy working with your staff
6 and seeing the really exciting and neat things that are
7 going on in Anderson County.
8 As the Chairman mentioned, I am here to briefly say
9 thank you for Anderson County’s support and investment
10 in the Council of Governments and to report on our
11 activities and what we’ve been doing for your folks
12 over the last year or so.
13 I want to particularly thank Ms. Wilson and Mr.
14 Graham who serve on our Board of Directors.  In fact,
15 Ms. Wilson currently serves as the Board’s Secretary
16 and on our Transportation Committee, as well.  Other
17 members of our Board of Directors from Anderson County
18 include representative West Cox, Anderson Mayor Terence
19 Roberts, City Council member Jeff Roberts, Mayor of
20 Williamston Rocky Burgess, Pendleton Council member
21 Sandra Gantt, and then your two appointees -- citizen
22 appointees Dennis Claramunt and minority representative
23 Charles Pinson.  Mr. Pinson, of course, is new to our
24 Board, but very enthusiastic and off to a really good
25 start.
26 Prior to the meeting I distributed copies of our
27 2021 Annual Report.  And I think a good indication of
28 performance is return on investment.  And Anderson
29 County’s investment in the Council of Governments is
30 ninety-four thousand dollars.  The return on investment
31 back to Anderson County municipalities, people and
32 other entities in the county in 2021 was about 13.2
33 million.  And that’s the largest figure I’ve ever given
34 in my Annual Report.  So I guess the expectations are
35 raised now as we go forward.  But that’s a return on
36 investment of a hundred and forty dollars coming back
37 for each dollar you invest in the Council of
38 Governments.  
39 The biggest part of that is the Rural
40 Transportation Improvement Program.  And as you’re
41 aware, transportation improvement projects in the urban
42 area are done through ANATS.  And outside of the urban
43 area, those priorities are recommended through the
44 Council of Governments.  And that’s why it’s so
45 critical to have Ms. Wilson and also Mr. Roberts from
46 the city on that committee to make sure that you get
47 the funding that’s needed here in Anderson County.
48 That 9.75 million includes a few different
49 projects.  Two intersection improvements kind of south
50 of Homeland Park on Highway 28 and Highway 185, an



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - May 3, 2022
9

1 intersection improvement of 1.6 million with the
2 project slated to run through fiscal year 2024.  Then
3 up U.S. 76 and Welpine Road, just, what, half a mile
4 north of I-85, an intersection improvement, four and a
5 half million dollars.  That project is running through
6 FY2023.  Then a resurfacing project on U.S. 178 from
7 the Pickens County line on down to Levis Smith Road and
8 that’s running through 2023. 
9 Have some previously funded project ongoing, as
10 well.  U.S. 29, the Jockey Lot entrance, the Cherokee
11 Road project.  I understand the bridge has been
12 demolished and they’re doing work there.  That’s
13 scheduled to be complete by the end of fiscal 2024. 
14 All toll, through the Rural Transportation Improvement
15 program, it’s funded over fifty million dollars in
16 projects in Anderson County since 1998.  
17 While I’m talking about transportation, I’m going
18 to get on Ms. Wilson’s good side here.  In June, we are
19 going to add a project to our Transportation
20 Improvement Program for the U.S. 29 Corridor Plan. 
21 It’s a project Ms. Wilson has been advocating strongly
22 for a while now.  And that’s coming up.  And we expect
23 that project to get underway sometime during the
24 summer.
25 Likewise, John Caime from your staff calls me about
26 twice a month to remind me of the importance of that
27 project to Anderson County.  So that is -- there’s real
28 movement on that.
29 Let’s see, some other funding, our staff helped
30 Anderson County and the city of Pendleton secure 1.27
31 million dollars in grant funding in 2021, two hundred
32 sixty-five thousand to the county through the CDBG
33 COVID program for services supporting the Virtual
34 Rainbow Gang, Ride to Work Anderson Food Bank,
35 Foothills Alliance, Crossways Ministry, Heart in
36 Harmony and Upstate Warrior Solutions.  Another five
37 hundred thousand dollars to an Appalachian Regional
38 Commission grant to support the little over a million
39 dollar Hurricane Creek Sewer Pump Station, and then a
40 five hundred thousand dollar Appalachian Regional
41 Commission grant to Pendleton for their West End Street
42 Scape Project supporting that one and a half million
43 dollar project.  
44 Continuing to work on several open grant projects,
45 as well; the Anderson City Innovation Kitchen, Anderson
46 County -- I’m sorry -- the Powdersville Water District
47 Fish Trap and Highway 88 Connector Transmission Main,
48 Williamston/Belton Drive Sewer and Williamston/Mahaffey
49 Road Sewer Upgrade.  
50 At this time we also have a couple of pending grant



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - May 3, 2022
10

1 applications we feel really good about; Williamston
2 Greenway and Appalachian Regional Commission grant in
3 Williamston Mill Village water grant, a community
4 development block grant.  
5 Over the past ten years we’ve helped entities in
6 Anderson County secure over fourteen million dollars in
7 grant funds.
8 We’ve provided another 1.1 million dollars in
9 services to the seniors.  And what is, I think, really
10 important about this is the focus of our program is to
11 help seniors stay in their home, to give them the
12 resources they need to do that.  They prefer to be in
13 their home than in an institution and it’s a whole lot
14 cheaper for us as taxpayers to help them out a little
15 bit than to pay for care in an institution.  
16 I also want to commend Anderson County.  You all
17 helped us beginning, I guess two years ago now, in
18 revamping our senior services to the county.  And your
19 involvement and the involvement of Meals on Wheels have
20 really improved that service.  Surveys tell us the
21 quality of the food has gone up tremendously. 
22 Unfortunately, the COVID limited the congregate dining
23 in the activity sites.  And Anderson County, like every
24 place else across the state, it’s been a little slow
25 opening back up because of the nature of the people we
26 work with and the vulnerability of the seniors.  
27 But prior to the COVID, increased the number of
28 sites in Anderson County from one to seven.  Our old
29 provider said, we can take people from Belton and Honea
30 Path and wherever and take them to Anderson and get
31 their meal and bus them back, spending all day on a bus
32 leaving their community.  Y’all partnered -- well, some
33 of your own facilities in partnering with cities to get
34 it back out in the communities where the people are. 
35 And y’all were doing so well before the COVID hit, and
36 I’m sure we’re going to ramp back up.  But y’all did do
37 a good job during the COVID of converting a lot of
38 those to home delivered meals to make sure that your
39 folks got fed.  Obviously thank you for that.
40 Let’s see, with that we provided eighty-one
41 thousand meals, seventy-two hundred hours of in-home
42 services and non-emergency medical transportation. 
43 Again, the key thing to keep people out of
44 institutions, when you’re released from the hospital,
45 to be able to get a trip for follow-up doctors’
46 appointments or for rehab or if you need kidney
47 dialysis and you don’t have your own vehicle; those
48 types of things.
49 We also provided eight hundred twenty-three
50 thousand dollars in workforce development through our



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - May 3, 2022
11

1 friends and partners at Worklink.  
2 In addition to the dollars, we provide services to
3 the county and its municipalities, which I included in
4 my report.  I’m not going to read the whole thing to
5 you, but maybe just a couple of highlights.  We work --
6 we staff the Home Program, which is a partnership with
7 the county, the city of Anderson and Belton.  In 2021,
8 together we rehabed eight houses and constructed two
9 new affordable housing units.  We worked with ANATS to
10 do transportation modeling to help them do their work. 
11 Worked with Williamston and Pendleton giving technical
12 assistance in planning matters.  Working with
13 Williamston to update their Comprehensive Plan.  Work
14 with the folks at your Economic Development Office. 
15 Our flagship Economic Development Program Infomentum is
16 the statistical and geographic database that the
17 economic developers in our region use to respond to
18 requests for information and do marketing.  We’ve been
19 partners with y’all for probably twenty years with that
20 now.  We’ve been working with a lot of the towns when
21 the CARES and ARPA funding came out to help them set up
22 systems to spend the money right, to track the money
23 right, and to set up priorities to make sure they use
24 it the best way possible.  
25 There’s more there, but I think that’s the
26 highlights.  And would be glad to respond to any
27 questions.
28 TOMMY DUNN:   Anyone have any
29 questions or comments?  Anyone at all?
30 CINDY WILSON:  I just want to
31 say a big thank you.  It’s a very, very important
32 group.  It’s very nice to be able to compare notes with
33 our adjoining counties and work together, because as an
34 example Highway 29 goes all the way from the Savannah
35 River to the North Carolina line and multiple
36 jurisdictions.  And we finally got a number of
37 jurisdictions together so we could get some attention
38 paid to that corridor.  And we thank the COG and all
39 the good people there for helping.
40 STEVE PELISSIER:   Thank you, Ms.
41 Wilson.
42 TOMMY DUNN:   Anyone else?
43 I just want to say appreciate what all you and COG
44 has done for us in the county.  Especially working with
45 you on Worklink, what all y’all have done there to help
46 train our folks and keep our people employed and keep
47 moving in these hard times.  Appreciate what all y’all
48 do.  And like I said, I think that is -- the facts are
49 here of getting the best bang for the buck and giving
50 back to the citizens of South Carolina and especially



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - May 3, 2022
12

1 Anderson County who we represent.  Thank y’all very,
2 very much.
3 STEVE PELISSIER:  Thank you, sir.
4 CINDY WILSON:  Thank you.
5 TOMMY DUNN:   We’re going to
6 move on now to item number 6(a), 2022-008, an Ordinance
7 to amend Ordinance #99-004, the Anderson County Zoning
8 Ordinance, as adopted July 20, 1999, by amending the
9 Anderson County Official Zoning Map to rezone +/- 5.39
10 acres from R-20 (Single Family Residential District) to
11 R-10 (Single-Family Residential District) on a parcel
12 of land, identified as 5.39 acres on Evergreen Road in
13 the North Pointe Precinct shown in Deed Book 15843 page
14 00246.  The parcel is further identified as TMS
15 #144-00-06-005.  And this is in District 4.  Do we have
16 a -- and this is third reading.  We’ve discussed this
17 twice before.  Do we have a motion to move this
18 forward?
19 BRETT SANDERS:  So moved.
20 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Mr.
21 Sanders.  Do I have a second?
22 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
23 JIMMY DAVIS:  Second.
24 TOMMY DUNN:   Second by Ms.
25 Wilson.  Any discussion?  Hearing and seeing none, all
26 in favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed like
27 sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously. 
28 We’re going to move on now to item number 6(b), 
29 2022-013, an Ordinance to amend Chapter 38 of the Code
30 of Ordinances, Anderson County, South Carolina, so
31 as to provide for drainage and utility easements to
32 convey stormwater and provide for location of other
33 utilities in developments within Anderson County; and
34 other matters related thereto. 
35 I know this is a public hearing.  But we’re going
36 to do this just a little bit different tonight and give
37 folks a chance -- I’ve got an amendment to this and I
38 want people, if they want -- anybody in public hearing
39 be able to speak to this.  
40 Do we have a motion to move this forward?
41 BRETT SANDERS:  So moved.
42 TOMMY DUNN:   We have a
43 motion Mr. Sanders; second Ms. Wilson.
44 I’d like to make a motion to amend.  In Section 38-
45 360(b) to add a sentence to read as follows:  The
46 requirements of a drainage and utility easement does
47 not apply to a single-family attached dwelling unit
48 that has a common wall with another single-family
49 dwelling unit on the sides where the common wall is
50 located.  Otherwise, this provisions applies to single-



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - May 3, 2022
13

1 family attached dwelling units that do not have a
2 common wall with another unit and to be rear lot lines
3 of all single-family attached dwelling units.  
4 Put that in the form of a motion to get on the
5 floor for discussion.  Second Ms. Wilson.  And I make
6 the motion to do that.  Now discussion.
7 What this is, it’s been brought to my attention, I
8 know it seems like it would be common sense, but we
9 don’t want nobody to come up here and try to put a
10 townhome or -- if there is no line they can’t do that. 
11 Just want to make sure that’s plain because you don’t
12 never know what some bureaucrat or somebody might try
13 to enforce or something another.  Want to make that
14 language clear.  So that’s the reason behind that.
15 Any discussion on that?  Everybody understand it?
16 All in favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed
17 like sign.  Show the amendment carries.  
18 Now go back to the full motion.  Before we vote on
19 that we’re going to have a public hearing and talk
20 about this.  That’s what we’re saying, but they can
21 also now discuss the amendment.  I wanted to get that
22 out there where they have an opportunity to talk about
23 that if they wanted to.
24 Got a public hearing on this matter.  Anyone
25 wishing to speak to this matter, please step forward
26 and state your name and district and address the chair,
27 please.  You’ve got three minutes.  Anyone at all?
28 Seeing and hearing none, the public hearing will be
29 closed.
30 We’ll go back to the original motion now.  I open
31 the floor up for discussion.  Any discussion?
32 I just want to say I thank -- for coming up with
33 this.  I think this is going to help out tremendously
34 with our -- not only our Roads and Bridges Department
35 and our Stormwater Department, but the citizens of
36 Anderson County.  It’s going to make their life a lot
37 easier.
38 All in favor of the motion show of hands.  All
39 opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
40 unanimously. 
41 We’re going to move on now to item number 6(c), 
42 2022-014, an Ordinance to approve a ground lease
43 agreement between Anderson County, South Carolina and
44 Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC for a portion of Tax Map No.
45 122-00-01-001, The Civic Center parcel, for location
46 of a battery storage system project; and other matters
47 related matters.
48 This will be a public hearing.  Anyone wishing to
49 speak to this matter, please step forward and state
50 your name and district.  You have three minutes. 



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - May 3, 2022
14

1 Address the Chair, please.  Anyone at all?
2 Seeing and hearing none, the public hearing will be
3 closed.  Again, this is third reading.  Do we have a
4 motion to move this forward?  
5 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
6 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Ms.
7 Wilson; second Mr. Sanders.  Now, any discussion?
8 CINDY WILSON:  May I very
9 quickly ---
10 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, ma’am.
11 CINDY WILSON:  --- point out
12 something very interesting ---
13 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, ma’am, Ms.
14 Wilson.
15 CINDY WILSON:  --- on page 9. 
16 First of all, Duke Power, Duke Energy, is a wonderful
17 partner and they originated here, I think,  too. 
18 They’re very, very important to our economic
19 development and quality of life, to say the least.
20 But I was a little bit curious.  Do you know that
21 their contracts now indicate that they are in
22 compliance with the United Nations Framework Convention
23 on Climate Change or the Kyoto Protocol, as well as the
24 EPA?
25 TOMMY DUNN:   Did not know
26 that.  
27 CINDY WILSON:  Very
28 interesting.
29 TOMMY DUNN:   Very
30 interesting.  It is.  Fun facts to know.  Any more
31 discussion?  All in favor of the motion show of hands. 
32 All opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
33 unanimously. 
34 We’re going to move on now to item number 7(a),
35 second readings, 2022-012, an Ordinance authorizing (1)
36 the execution and delivery of a fee in lieu of tax and
37 incentive agreement by and between Anderson County,
38 South Carolina (“The County”) and one or more companies
39 collectively identified for the time being as Project
40 81 Logistics, acting for itself or themselves, one or
41 more affiliates, and/or other project sponsors
42 (collectively, the “Company”), pursuant to which the
43 County shall covenant to accept certain negotiated fees
44 in lieu of ad valorem taxes with respect to the
45 establishment and/or expansion of certain facilities in
46 the County (The “Project”); (2) the benefits of a
47 multi-county industrial or business park to be made
48 available to the company and the project and the
49 distribution of revenues generated from the project
50 with the County; (3) certain special source revenue



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - May 3, 2022
15

1 credits in connection with the project; and (4) other
2 matters related thereto.
3 Do we have a motion to put this on the floor?
4 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
5 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Ms.
6 Wilson.  Do we have a second?
7 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
8 TOMMY DUNN:   Second Mr.
9 Brett Sanders.  Now open the floor up for discussion. 
10 Mr. Nelson.
11 BURRISS NELSON:  Thank you, Mr.
12 Chairman, members of Council.  First, I’d like to thank
13 Council for allowing -- and we have in our notes for
14 you that this is title only.  However, there is a full
15 ordinance available in the packet this time, but
16 allowing us to get first reading with title only the
17 last time.
18 But this project is forty-five million dollars,
19 with twelve new jobs.  New annual payroll -- with an
20 average annual -- average hourly wage rate of $28.43 an
21 hour, with an average annual payroll of six hundred
22 eighty-two thousand.  This is a thirty-year fee
23 agreement.  And in the first -- last year this property
24 paid eighty-three dollars in property tax.  And in
25 2024, when it comes on line for property tax, it’ll pay
26 approximately three hundred and forty-four thousand
27 dollars in property tax.  And over thirty years
28 seventeen million.  Has a community impact of 7.8
29 million over the first five years.  Thirty-year
30 community impact, forty-one million. 
31 Thank you for your consideration.
32 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you, Mr.
33 Nelson.  Do we have anymore discussion?  Seeing and
34 hearing none, all in favor of the motion show of hands.
35 All opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
36 unanimously. 
37 Thank you, Mr. Nelson.  Appreciate you and your
38 team.
39 BURRISS NELSON:  Yes, sir. 
40 Thank you for your support.  Appreciate y’all.
41 TOMMY DUNN:   Moving on to
42 item number 7(b), 2022-016, an Ordinance authorizing
43 the transfer of real property located at 1299 Three and
44 Twenty Road, Easley, South Carolina (TMS NO.
45 163-00-09-008) to the Three and Twenty Fire Department
46 trustees; and other matters related thereto.
47 Do we have a motion to put this on the floor?
48 JIMMY DAVIS:  So moved.
49 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
50 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Mr.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - May 3, 2022
16

1 Jimmy Davis; and second Ms. Wilson.  I open the floor
2 up for discussion.  Any discussion?  I want to explain,
3 this is property where the portable landfill -- I still
4 call them portable landfill used to be.  We moved that
5 out.  They’ve been asking for this property.  And I
6 think it’s a good fit for the community up there.  It
7 back to them, and they’ll take care of it.  Hope to put
8 some training props up there and it’ll be good, like I
9 said, for their community.
10 Anyone else have anything?  All in favor of the
11 motion show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the
12 motion carries unanimously. 
13 We’re going to move on now to item number (c), 
14 2022-017, an Ordinance authorizing the transfer of
15 certain real properties located at 204 West Poplar
16 Street, Iva, South Carolina (TMS 133-04-01-003); 57 Oak
17 Street, Iva, South Carolina (TMS 133-02-06-003); and
18 717 Central Street, Iva, South Carolina (TMS
19 134-00-06-017) to the Town of Iva; and other matters
20 related thereto.
21 Do we have a motion to put this on the floor?
22 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
23 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Ms.
24 Wilson.  Do we have a second?
25 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
26 TOMMY DUNN:   Second Mr.
27 Glenn Davis.  Any discussion?  
28 CINDY WILSON:  May I real
29 quick?
30 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, ma’am, Ms.
31 Wilson.
32 CINDY WILSON:  This appears to
33 go back to the wonderful 2.9 million dollar grant that
34 the county received to take care of delapidated
35 properties several years ago.  And the funds were
36 spread around.  I think every town had some old
37 dwellings and lots that were part of this program.  And
38 now they’re going back being able to be used.  Took the
39 old houses down and cleaned up.  
40 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, ma’am. 
41 Hope they get ---
42 CINDY WILSON:  Am I correct,
43 Mr. Burns?
44 RUSTY BURNS:  Correct.
45 TOMMY DUNN:   Hopefully we’ll
46 get this back on the tax books.  Anyone else?  All in
47 favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed like
48 sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously. 
49 We’re going to move on to item number 7(d), 
50 2022-018, an Ordinance to provide approval for Anderson



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - May 3, 2022
17

1 County to grant a perpetual and non-exclusive easement
2 unto Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC upon a portion of the
3 real property being Parcel A, 0.192 acres and Parcel B,
4 2.96 acres, as recorded in Plat Slide 1273, pages 5 and
5 6, Anderson County Register of Deeds for electric car
6 charging stations within the City of Belton; and other
7 matters related thereto.
8 Do we have a motion to put this on the floor? 
9 BRETT SANDERS:  So moved.
10 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
11 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Mr.
12 Brett Sanders; second Ms. Cindy Wilson.  Any
13 discussion?  Seeing and hearing none, all in favor of
14 the motion show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show
15 the motion carries unanimously. 
16 We’re going to move on to item number 8(a),
17 Ordinance first reading, title only.  This is an
18 ordinance to adopt the operating and capital budgets of
19 Anderson County for the fiscal year beginning July 1st,
20 2022 and ending June 30th, 2023, to make appropriations
21 for such Anderson County budgets for county ordinary
22 purposes and for other county purposes for which the
23 county may levy a tax other than for Tri-County
24 Technical College purposes.  I’m not going to read that
25 whole thing.  Do we put this in the form of a motion?
26 JIMMY DAVIS:  So moved.
27 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
28 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion by Mr.
29 Jimmy Davis; second Ms. Cindy Wilson.  I open the floor
30 up for discussion.  
31 I’ll start off.  One reason we’re doing this
32 tonight is according to our county ordinances, we have
33 to have first reading of our budget by a certain date. 
34 So we’re doing that to meet this.  And we all know
35 we’ll have a budget -- we’ve got to have a budget
36 passed by July, is when our thing starts.  And we
37 always have done that.  It’s been the operating budget. 
38 Mr. Chairman, I don’t want to put you on the spot,
39 but would you like to say a few words or anything?
40 BRETT SANDERS:  Yes, sir, Mr.
41 Chairman.
42 TOMMY DUNN:   Mr. Sanders.
43 BRETT SANDERS:  We have -- I
44 have been meeting with the Finance Department.  I know
45 our budget books will be out, I’m hoping to have
46 everyone’s Monday.  The Department of Revenue is
47 actually having a meeting tomorrow and we’re waiting to
48 see to make sure the money is there.  And after that
49 I’ll be meeting with -- our Finance Committee will be
50 meeting.  So far everything looks good to be on track. 



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - May 3, 2022
18

1 And no tax increase, hopefully.  And that looks pretty
2 much like -- I think that is feasible and will happen. 
3 So I appreciate your support on this.  Thank you.
4 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, sir.
5 Mr. Burns, do you want to just touch base a little
6 bit about what me and you talked about this afternoon
7 about Ms. Davis is going to be meeting tomorrow about
8 the ---
9 BRETT SANDERS:  Department of
10 Revenue.
11 RUSTY BURNS:  Tomorrow
12 beginning around 9:30 in this room, we will have people
13 from South Carolina Department of Revenue; they will be
14 coming in here to discuss reassessment.  They’ll be
15 doing that not only for our county but other counties
16 are invited and will attend, as well as numerous school
17 districts across the upstate.  So we’re happy to host
18 that.  But if anybody has any questions or concerns
19 that they would like to know more about it, they’re
20 certainly welcome to come.  It’s open to the public.
21 TOMMY DUNN:   Did he do good,
22 Ms. Davis?
23 RITA DAVIS:  Yes, sir.
24 TOMMY DUNN:   Okay.  Anyone
25 else?  All in favor of the motion show of hands.  All
26 opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
27 unanimously. 
28 We’re going to move on now to item number 9(a), 
29 R2022-028, a Resolution to request and support that the
30 South Carolina General Assembly -- I’m sorry.  That’s
31 been pulled off.  Getting on a roll here.
32 We’re going to move on now to item number 10. 
33 These are change orders/bid approvals.  And I’ll let
34 Mr. Carroll step forward and go through this.  We’ve
35 got 10(a), Change Order for 2022 Pavement Marking
36 Contract  Mr. Carroll.
37 ROBERT CARROLL:   Thank you, Mr.
38 Chairman.  This is for the pavement marking contract
39 that you’ve already approved.  The bids came in a good
40 bit lower than what we expected, so these were four
41 additional roads that we’re adding.  This will still be
42 within budget.  Nursery Lane, Todd Road, Cleveland Road
43 and Little Mountain Road.  Change order fourteen
44 thousand eighty-one dollars and ten cents.
45 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.  You
46 want to put this in the form of a motion?
47 BRETT SANDERS:  So moved.
48 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
49 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Mr.
50 Sanders and second by Ms. Wilson.  Any discussion?  All



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - May 3, 2022
19

1 in favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed like
2 sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously. 
3 We’re going to move on to item number 10(b), 
4 Toxaway Riverside Mill Site.  Mr. Carroll.
5 ROBERT CARROLL:   Thank you, Mr.
6 Chairman.  This is for -- to recommend M. Peters Group
7 for the development of this property.  Remember we had
8 -- we brought to you a couple of months ago.  This is
9 the same company doing that project.  And staff
10 recommends award to M. Peters Group.
11 TOMMY DUNN:   Do we have a
12 motion to move this forward? 
13 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
14 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Ms.
15 Wilson.  Do we have a second?
16 GLENN DAVIS:  Second.
17 TOMMY DUNN:   Second Mr.
18 Glenn Davis.  Any discussion?  All in favor of the
19 motion show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the
20 motion carries unanimously. 
21 We’re going to move on to item number (c), ACTC,
22 that’s Anderson County Transportation Committee, number
23 125 Resurfacing Bid number 22-048.  Mr. Carroll.
24 ROBERT CARROLL:   Thank you, sir. 
25 We had two bids received.  Staff recommends award to
26 King Asphalt, two million nine hundred twelve thousand
27 eight number thirty-two dollars and six cents.  And
28 these are for parts of -- for all of road -- Big Creek
29 Road, Blue Ridge Avenue and Plantation Road.
30 TOMMY DUNN:   Do we have a
31 motion to move this forward?
32 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
33 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Ms.
34 Wilson.  Have a second?
35 GLENN DAVIS:  Second.
36 TOMMY DUNN:   Second Mr.
37 Glenn Davis.  Now open the floor up for discussion.  
38 Mr. Burns, this just adds to the list of roads
39 we’ve already paved this year.  Is that not correct?
40 RUSTY BURNS:  These roads
41 will begin being paved -- these are the ones that
42 Council has approved.  They’re anxious and chomping at
43 the bit to start paving these just as fast as humanly
44 possible.  We will have more coming before Council
45 soon.
46 TOMMY DUNN:   We’ve already
47 done some for this year?
48 RUSTY BURNS:  Yes, sir. 
49 We’ve already done some this year, but we need to get
50 these out so they can get on with it.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - May 3, 2022
20

1 TOMMY DUNN:   That’s right. 
2 Anymore discussion?  Thank y’all.  All in favor of the
3 motion show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the
4 motion carries unanimously. 
5 We’re going to move on to item number (d), 10(d), 
6 King David Expansion, Bid #22-051.  Mr. Carroll.
7 ROBERT CARROLL:   Thank you, sir. 
8 This is for the, as you said, King David expansion. 
9 Base bid, five hundred ten thousand two hundred nine
10 dollars.  The alternate is for fencing.  And Mr. Smith
11 has worked with the engineers and reduced that by
12 thirty thousand dollars.  So the alternate is going to
13 be eighty-four thousand, so for a total bid of five
14 ninety-four two oh nine.  Staff recommends award to
15 Belk.
16 TOMMY DUNN:   Do we have a
17 motion to move this forward?  
18 BRETT SANDERS:  So moved.
19 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
20 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Mr.
21 Sanders; second Ms. Wilson.  Open the floor up for
22 discussion.  Mr. Carroll, this comes out of the
23 Enterprise Funds.  This is out of Mr. Smith’s budget;
24 right?  Not general fund.
25 ROBERT CARROLL:   Yes, sir.
26 TOMMY DUNN:   You good with
27 this?  Everything good?  Yes, sir.  Thank y’all.  
28 Yes, sir, Mr. Davis.
29 JIMMY DAVIS:  This really
30 doesn’t have anything -- I just want to say if you
31 haven’t been to one of our convenience centers you need
32 to go visit.  Our convenience centers are second to
33 none and I really appreciate everything.  I know this
34 is a much needed expansion.  And I really appreciate
35 everything Mr. Smith and his staff does to make going
36 to the convenience center an enjoyable experience. 
37 Thank you, Mr. Chair.
38 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.
39 CINDY WILSON:  May I add to
40 that?
41 TOMMY DUNN:   Ms. Wilson.
42 CINDY WILSON:  Not only are
43 the facilities laid out in a really safer, efficient
44 way, but those great people that work there are so
45 helpful to a lot of people.  It is a far more -- a far
46 less unpleasant experience to go there these days. 
47 We’re grateful.
48 TOMMY DUNN:   I know it seems
49 like sometimes people don’t use our -- but evidently, I
50 know it’s been longer than what you think, but this



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - May 3, 2022
21

1 thing has been upgraded since I’ve been on Council one
2 time, I know.  So we’re doing it again.  Is it still
3 one of the busiest ones in the county, Mr. Smith?
4 MR. SMITH:  Yes, sir.  
5 TOMMY DUNN:   I thought so. 
6 Anyone else?  Anymore discussion?  All in favor of the
7 motion show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the
8 motion carries unanimously. 
9 Moving on to item number (e), change order for
10 entryway for 1428 Building, that’s the TTI building on
11 Pearman Dairy Road.
12 ROBERT CARROLL:   Thank you, Mr.
13 Chairman.  This comes as a recommendation from staff
14 for this change order.  Ten thousand five hundred
15 sixty-seven dollars.  As you said, this is the front
16 entry project at 1428 Building.  And I believe I’m
17 pretty safe to say this will be the last change order
18 on this project.
19 TOMMY DUNN:   Do we have a
20 motion to move this forward?
21 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
22 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Ms.
23 Wilson.  Have a second?
24 JIMMY DAVIS:  Second.
25 TOMMY DUNN:   Second Mr.
26 Jimmy Davis.  Open the floor up for discussion.  Mr.
27 Burns, all of this is part of making that building
28 handicap accessible on the front entrance; is that not
29 true?
30 RUSTY BURNS:  Yes, sir,
31 that’s primarily what it is, and some wall work in
32 there to accommodate the Sheriff’s Office expansion and
33 his training facility that’s located in that area.
34 TOMMY DUNN:   Anyone else? 
35 All in favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed
36 like sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously.
37 ROBERT CARROLL:   Thank you, sir.
38 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you, Mr.
39 Carroll.  Appreciate you.
40 Like I said earlier, number 11 is pulled.  We’re
41 going to go to number 12, Administrator’s report.
42 RUSTY BURNS:  Nothing at this
43 time, Mr. Chairman.
44 TOMMY DUNN:   Going to move
45 on to item number 13.  Any citizen signed up to speak
46 on any other matters they want to now has three
47 minutes.  Please state your name and district for the
48 record and address the chair, please.  Mr. Harmon.
49 LEON HARMON:  Mr. Chairman,
50 no one is signed up.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - May 3, 2022
22

1 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.  
2 We’re going to go now -- I’m going to tell you, I’m
3 going to ask.  There’s no request for Council tonight. 
4 Does anybody have any I don’t know about?  Okay.
5 Moving on to remarks from Council members.  Ms.
6 Wilson.
7 CINDY WILSON:  Oh, thank you. 
8 I see Mr. Meade here from the Williamston Journal.  But
9 it’s important that all of our county know, one of our
10 constituents made the Southern Living May edition.  She
11 has a lavender farm.  It’s a farm that’s been in her
12 family for many, many generations.  And she had to get
13 a special -- got it rezoned for lavender farm-related
14 sales and has a cute little barn for an event center.
15 TOMMY DUNN:   Midway Road?
16 CINDY WILSON:  On Midway Road. 
17 And lavender is a very difficult crop to grow, but
18 Michelle Ducworth did her homework.  And oh, my
19 goodness, it is a glorious sight.  
20 TOMMY DUNN:   It is.
21 CINDY WILSON:  You may have to
22 go out and look at it.
23 TOMMY DUNN:   I have seen it.
24 CINDY WILSON:  All kinds of
25 good things happening in our county.  Thank you.
26 TOMMY DUNN:   Mr. Wright.
27 JOHN WRIGHT:  Thank you, Mr.
28 Chairman.  Just a couple of things I want to make
29 mention of.  I attended Anderson University today.  Mr.
30 Glenn Davis spoke there at the football stadium
31 groundbreaking.  Saw Mr. Burns there.
32 TOMMY DUNN:   Excuse me.  I
33 heard he done a little bit more than speak out there.  
34 He’s still got it, I believe.  I heard he done his
35 Heisman move.
36 JOHN WRIGHT:  That’s right. 
37 That’s right.  McDuffie High School days there.  But a
38 great turnout there.  And I just think that’s a
39 wonderful thing for Anderson County.  And just excited
40 to see that come to fruition.  Been in the works a long
41 time.  So that was fun.  
42 Was not able to make it to Soiree because I was out
43 of town, but I know the county had a big part to play
44 in sponsorships and obviously the space here downtown,
45 the square, and from everything I could hear, it was a
46 tremendous success.  I think over a hundred thousand
47 people showed up over the weekend.
48 A lot of good things happening here in Anderson
49 County.  And excited for more to come.  Thank you.
50 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you, Mr.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - May 3, 2022
23

1 Wright.  Mr. Glenn Davis.
2 GLENN DAVIS:  Thank you, Mr.
3 Chairman.  I’d just like to piggyback on Mr. Wright’s
4 comments.  We live in a great county.  And I’m thankful
5 to live in Anderson County.  It’s been my home.  It’s
6 where I was born.  I left briefly, but I came back.  I
7 just love Anderson County.  We have a great thing going
8 on in Anderson County.  Great collaboration between the
9 government and the people, and I’d like to see that
10 just continue.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
11 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
12 Going to move on now to Mr. Sanders.  But he also,
13 before he gets in his comments, he’s got a request for
14 Mr. Graham that come in, to take care of.  Mr. Sanders.
15 BRETT SANDERS:  Thank you, Mr.
16 Chairman.  Councilman Graham requests three thousand
17 dollars from his rec account to the Iva Recreation
18 Center.  Put that in the form of a motion.
19 TOMMY DUNN:   We have a
20 motion from Councilman Sanders on behalf of Ray Graham
21 to take three thousand dollars out of his special
22 appropriations account and put it to Iva Recreation
23 thing.  And they are one of our -- they got their
24 paperwork in and all that.  It’s a standing thing.
25 Do we have a second?
26 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
27 TOMMY DUNN:   Second Ms.
28 Wilson.  Any discussion?  All in favor of Mr. Sanders’
29 motion show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the
30 motion carries unanimously. 
31 Mr. Sanders.
32 BRETT SANDERS:  Thank you, sir. 
33 I’d just like to say that I had a great time at the
34 Soiree.  I know that the county did a lot to work with
35 the city on that.  And I’m happy to see us
36 collaborating and working with the city.  Hope everyone
37 that came out had as good a time as I did.  Thank you
38 very much.
39 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.
40 Mr. Jimmy Davis.
41 JIMMY DAVIS:  Thank you, Mr.
42 Chair.  I just want to remind everyone that the first
43 ever Rhythm on the River is this coming Saturday.  Mr.
44 Hopkins, do you want to say anything about it?  No? 
45 Yes?  Come on, Holt.  Holt was part of the planning
46 group for it with the Powdersville Business Council. 
47 And there’s a lot of great things going on.  We’re
48 looking forward to this event.
49 HOLT HOPKINS:   Yeah, they’ve
50 actually been working on this event for three years. 



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - May 3, 2022
24

1 But with COVID we’ve had to cancel it for the past two,
2 the last couple of times.  But yeah, I think it’s going
3 to be a great thing for Powdersville.  A lot of work
4 has been put into it.  It’s a small -- kind of a small
5 event for what we’ve had at the Civic Center, but I
6 think it’s just right for Powdersville.  Encourage
7 Council and everybody else to come out.
8 JIMMY DAVIS:  And we’ve got a
9 couple of bands, a bunch of boutique vendors, different
10 kinds of food trucks.  The pound cake man is going to
11 be there.  And I’ve challenged Representative West Cox
12 to a food truck eating contest.  But we’re looking
13 forward to what’s going on up there at Rhythm on the
14 River.  I invite you all to come out and see what we
15 have going on.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
16 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.  I
17 just want to piggyback on what Mr. Wright had to say
18 about -- and several other Council members -- about the
19 Soiree.  I couldn’t make it on time.  I was supposed to
20 have a few remarks.  I had a death come up in a very
21 close friend, so I couldn’t make it.  But I do -- did
22 come by and seen a lot of our citizens here.  And I
23 really do appreciate everybody putting it together and
24 what all everybody done to make this happen and give
25 our citizens something to do.  I think one thing is for
26 sure, people are ready to get out and get something and
27 do stuff.  And I think that was a good thing. 
28 And I come through Saturday morning going somewhere
29 and to check things out and seen -- this was early,
30 about 10:00, and seen a good crowd starting there. 
31 That’s good.
32 Also want to thank the past -- put together I think
33 the past weekend, the past couple of weeks, they had
34 another fishing tournament at Green Pond.  And what the
35 anglers done and the association out there that had
36 this tournament on, what they done for the county, the
37 citizens and what all they done, the volunteer work and
38 all and spotlighted some restaurants and businesses out
39 there and everything.  And want to thank Neil Paul and
40 Convention Visitors Bureau do and what they’ve all done
41 and everything.
42 Want to remind everybody, too, it’s coming up, if
43 this don’t break the drought or the rain spell, I don’t
44 know what will, because you know, the fair is coming to
45 town.  Since I’ve been little the fair, it always rains
46 the week the fair comes in.  The fair is coming in. 
47 Hope we all go out and enjoy it and support it.  You
48 know, we didn’t have a fair for many, many years and
49 was able to get one back.  And I think it’s been a big
50 success for our citizens that really enjoy that and get



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - May 3, 2022
25

1 it done and give our thing to our Civic Center.
2 Appreciate what all y’all do, and I’ll see y’all at
3 the next Council meeting.  Meeting adjourned.
4
5 (MEETING ADJOURNED AT 7:11 P.M.)



ANDERSON COUNTY 
ORDINANCE NO. 2022-012 

 
AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING (1) THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A FEE 
IN LIEU OF TAX AND INCENTIVE AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN ANDERSON 
COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (THE “COUNTY”) AND EVERGREEN ROAD 
ANDERSON, LLC AND FEDEX GROUND PACKAGE SYSTEM, INC., COMPANIES 
PREVIOUSLY IDENTIFIED, COLLECTIVELY, AS PROJECT HIGHWAY 81 
LOGISTICS, EACH ACTING FOR ITSELF, ONE OR MORE AFFILIATES, AND/OR 
OTHER PROJECT SPONSORS (COLLECTIVELY, THE “COMPANIES”), 
PURSUANT TO WHICH THE COUNTY SHALL COVENANT TO ACCEPT 
CERTAIN NEGOTIATED FEES IN LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES WITH 
RESPECT TO THE ESTABLISHMENT AND/OR EXPANSION OF CERTAIN 
FACILITIES IN THE COUNTY (THE “PROJECT”); (2) THE BENEFITS OF A MULTI-
COUNTY INDUSTRIAL OR BUSINESS PARK TO BE MADE AVAILABLE TO THE 
COMPANIES AND THE PROJECT AND THE DISTRIBUTION OF REVENUES 
GENERATED FROM THE PROJECT WITHIN THE COUNTY; (3) CERTAIN 
SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDITS IN CONNECTION WITH THE PROJECT; 
AND (4) OTHER MATTERS RELATING THERETO. 

 
WHEREAS, Anderson County, South Carolina (the “County”), acting by and through its County 

Council (the “Council”), is authorized and empowered under and pursuant to the provisions of the Code of 
Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Code”), particularly Title 12, Chapter 44 of the Code (the 
“Negotiated FILOT Act”), and Title 4, Chapter 1 of the Code (the “Multi-County Park Act”, or, as to 
Section 4-1-175 thereof, and by incorporation Section 4-29-68 of the Code, the “Special Source Act”) 
(collectively, the “Act”) and by Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution: (i) to enter 
into agreements with certain investors to construct, operate, maintain, and improve certain projects through 
which the economic development of the State of South Carolina (the “State”) will be promoted and trade 
developed by inducing manufacturing and commercial enterprises to locate and remain in the State and thus 
utilize and employ the manpower, agricultural products, and natural resources of the State; (ii) to covenant 
with such investors to accept certain fee in lieu of ad valorem tax (“FILOT”) payments, including, but not 
limited to, negotiated FILOT payments made pursuant to the Negotiated FILOT Act, with respect to a 
project; (iii) to permit investors to claim special source revenue credits against their FILOT payments 
(“Special Source Credits”) to pay certain costs of infrastructure serving the County or improved or 
unimproved real property and personal property, including machinery and equipment, used in the operation 
of a manufacturing or commercial enterprise in order to enhance the economic development of the County 
(“Special Source Improvements”); and (iv) to create, in conjunction with one or more other counties, a 
multi-county industrial or business park in order to afford certain enhanced income tax credits to such 
investors and to facilitate the grant of Special Source Credits; and 

WHEREAS, FedEx Ground Package System, Inc., a Delaware corporation previously identified as 
Project Highway 81 Logistics Operating Company, and Evergreen Road Anderson, LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company previously identified as Project Highway 81 Logistics Real Property Owner, each 
acting for itself, one or more affiliates, and/or other project sponsors (collectively, the “Companies”), 
propose to establish and/or expand certain facilities at one or more locations in the County (the “Project”); 
and 

WHEREAS, the Companies anticipate that, should their plans proceed as expected, the Companies 
will invest, or cause to be invested, at least $45,343,000, in the aggregate, in the Project (the “Minimum 
Investment Requirement”) and create, or cause to be created, at least 12 new, full-time jobs, in the 
aggregate, at the Project (the “Minimum Jobs Requirement”); and 



WHEREAS, on the basis of the information supplied to it by the Companies, the County has 
determined, inter alia, that the Project would subserve the purposes of the Act and has made certain findings 
pertaining thereto in accordance with the Act; and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with such findings and determinations and in order to induce the 
Companies to locate the Project in the County, the Council adopted Resolution No. 2022-022 on April 5, 
2022 (the “Inducement Resolution”), whereby the County agreed to provide the benefits of a negotiated 
FILOT, Special Source Credits, and a multi-county industrial or business park with respect to the Project; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the County and the Companies have agreed to the specific terms and conditions of 

such arrangements as set forth herein and in a Fee in Lieu of Tax and Incentive Agreement by and between 
the County and the Companies with respect to the Project (the “Incentive Agreement”), the form of which 
Incentive Agreement is presented to this meeting, and which Incentive Agreement is to be dated as of May 
17, 2022, or such other date as the parties thereto may agree; and  

 
WHEREAS, it appears that the Incentive Agreement now before this meeting is in appropriate form 

and is an appropriate instrument to be executed and delivered by the County for the purposes intended. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council, as follows: 

Section 1. As contemplated by Section 12-44-40(I) of the Negotiated FILOT Act, the findings 
and determinations set forth in the Inducement Resolution are hereby ratified and confirmed.  In the event 
of any disparity or ambiguity between the terms and provisions of the Inducement Resolution and the terms 
and provisions of this Ordinance and the Incentive Agreement, the terms and provisions of this Ordinance 
and the Incentive Agreement shall control.  Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall 
have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Incentive Agreement.  Additionally, based on information 
provided to the County by the Companies with respect to the Project, the County makes the following 
findings and determinations: 

(a) The Project will constitute a “project” within the meaning of the Negotiated FILOT 
Act; and 

(b) The Project, and the County’s actions herein, will subserve the purposes of the 
Negotiated FILOT Act; and 

(c) The Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the State and the 
County by providing services, employment, recreation, or other public benefits not otherwise 
adequately provided locally; and 

(d) The Project gives rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or incorporated 
municipality or a charge against its general credit or taxing power; and 

(e) The purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and 
public purposes; and 

(f) The benefits of the Project are greater than the costs. 

Section 2.  



(a) The County hereby agrees to enter into the Incentive Agreement with the 
Companies, which agreement shall be in the form of a fee agreement, pursuant to the Negotiated 
FILOT Act, and whereby the Companies will agree to satisfy, or cause to be satisfied, certain 
investment requirements with respect to the Project within certain prescribed time periods in 
accordance with the Negotiated FILOT Act and the County, under certain conditions set forth in 
the Incentive Agreement, will agree to accept certain negotiated fee in lieu of ad valorem tax 
(“Negotiated FILOT”) payments with respect to the Project, as set forth in Section 2(b) hereof and 
in accordance with the terms of the Incentive Agreement. 

(b)  

(i) The Negotiated FILOT shall be determined using: (1) an 
assessment ratio of 6%, (2) a millage rate of 332.07 mills, which millage rate or 
millage rates shall be fixed pursuant to Section 12-44-50(A)(1)(b)(i) of the 
Negotiated FILOT Act for the full term of the Negotiated FILOT; (3) the fair 
market value of the Project, determined in accordance with the Negotiated FILOT 
Act; and (4) and such other terms and conditions as will be specified in the 
Incentive Agreement, including, without limitation, that (A) the Companies, in 
their sole discretion, may dispose of property and replace property subject to 
Negotiated FILOT payments to the maximum extent permitted by the Negotiated 
FILOT Act, and (B) the real property portion of the economic development 
property comprising the Project shall be reported at its fair market value for ad 
valorem taxes as determined by appraisal as if such property were not subject to 
the Negotiated FILOT, in accordance with, and as set forth in, Section 12-44-
50(A)(1)(c)(i) of the Negotiated FILOT Act. 

(ii) The Negotiated FILOT shall be calculated as provided in this 
Section 2(b) for all Negotiated FILOT Property placed in service during the 
Investment Period.  For each annual increment of investment in Negotiated FILOT 
Property, the annual Negotiated FILOT payments shall be payable for a payment 
period of thirty (30) years.  Accordingly, if such Negotiated FILOT Property is 
placed in service during more than one year, each year’s investment during the 
Investment Period shall be subject to the Negotiated FILOT for a payment period 
of thirty (30) years, up to an aggregate of thirty-five (35) years, or, if the Investment 
Period is extended as set forth in the Incentive Agreement, up to an aggregate of 
forty (40) years. 

Section 3.  

(a) The County will use its best efforts to ensure that the Project will be included, if 
not already included, and will remain, within the boundaries of a multi-county industrial or business 
park (the “Multi-County Park”) pursuant to the provisions of the Multi-County Park Act and Article 
VIII, Section 13(D) of the State Constitution on terms which provide the Companies and the Project 
with any additional benefits afforded by the laws of the State for projects located within multi-
county industrial or business parks, and which facilitate the County’s provision, and the 
Companies’ receipt, of the Special Source Credits described herein, all in accordance with the terms 
of the Incentive Agreement. 

(b) Revenues generated for the Multi-County Park from the Project through 
Negotiated FILOT payments to be retained by Anderson County (“Net Park Fees”) under the 



agreement governing the Multi-County Park shall be distributed within Anderson County in 
accordance with this subsection: 

(1) 15% of Net Park Fees shall be deposited to Bond Fund created by 
Ordinance 2018-042 and used as required or permitted thereby;  

(2) 35% of Net Park Fees, and any surplus money under Ordinance 2018-042, 
shall be deposited to the Capital Renewal and Replacement Fund of Anderson County; and 

(3) Remaining Net Park Fees shall be disbursed to each of the taxing entities 
in Anderson County which levy an old ad valorem property tax in any of the areas 
comprising the Anderson County portion of the Multi-County Park in the same percentage 
as is equal to that taxing entity’s percentage of the millage rate (and proportion of operating 
and debt service millage) being levied in the current tax year for property tax purposes. 

Section 4.  

(a) As an additional incentive to induce the Companies to locate the Project in the 
County, and as reimbursement for investment in Special Source Improvements, and subject to the 
requirements of the Special Source Act, the County hereby agrees that the Companies shall be 
entitled to receive, and the County shall provide, Special Source Credits against each Negotiated 
FILOT payment due from each Company with respect to its respective portion of the Project for a 
period of fifteen (15) consecutive tax years, commencing with the tax year for which the initial 
Negotiated FILOT payment is due with respect to the Project, as follows: (i) for the first five (5) 
such tax years, in an amount equal to fifty percent (50%) of each such Negotiated FILOT payment; 
and (ii) for the remaining ten (10) such tax years, in an amount equal to forty percent (40%) of each 
such Negotiated FILOT payment; provided, however, if, by the second anniversary of the 
“commencement date” (here and hereinafter, as such term is defined in the Negotiated FILOT Act), 
new job creation at the Project by the Companies and any other Sponsors or Sponsor Affiliates is 
not at least 10 new, full-time jobs, in the aggregate, at the Project and/or total investment in the 
Project by the Companies and any other Sponsors or Sponsor Affiliates is not at least $35,000,000, 
in the aggregate, the applicable Special Source Credit percentage shall be reduced from fifty percent 
(50%) to thirty percent (30%), on a prospective basis, commencing with the Negotiated FILOT 
payment corresponding to the Property Tax Year containing the second anniversary of the 
commencement date; provided, further, however, that in the event of a reduction of the Special 
Source Credit percentage set forth above, if the Companies satisfy both the Minimum Investment 
Requirement and the Minimum Jobs Requirement by the end of the Compliance Period (i.e., the 
fifth anniversary of the commencement date), such reduced Special Source Credit percentage shall 
revert to the original Special Source Credit percentage of forty percent (40%) prospectively, 
commencing with the Negotiated FILOT payment corresponding to the Property Tax Year 
containing the last day of the Compliance Period. 

(b) In accordance with the Special Source Act, the Special Source Credits authorized 
herein shall not, in the aggregate, exceed the aggregate cost of Special Source Improvements 
funded from time to time by the Companies in connection with the Project. 

Section 5. The form, provisions, terms, and conditions of the Incentive Agreement presented 
to this meeting and filed with the Clerk to the Council are hereby approved, and all of the provisions, terms, 
and conditions thereof are hereby incorporated herein by reference as if the Incentive Agreement was set 
out in this Ordinance in its entirety.  The Chairman of the Council is hereby authorized, empowered, and 
directed to execute the Incentive Agreement in the name and on behalf of the County; the Clerk to the 



Council is hereby authorized, empowered and directed to attest the same; and the Chairman of the Council 
is further authorized, empowered, and directed to deliver the Incentive Agreement to the Companies.  The 
Incentive Agreement is to be in substantially the form now before this meeting and hereby approved, or 
with such changes therein as shall not materially adversely affect the rights of the County thereunder and 
as shall be approved by the official or officials of the County executing the same, upon the advice of 
counsel, their execution thereof to constitute conclusive evidence of their approval of any and all changes 
or revisions therein from the form of the Incentive Agreement now before this meeting. 

Section 6. The Chairman of the Council, the County Administrator of the County, and the 
Clerk to the Council, for and on behalf of the County, are hereby each authorized, empowered, and directed 
to do any and all things necessary or proper to effect the performance of all obligations of the County under 
and pursuant to Incentive Agreement. 

Section 7. The provisions of this Ordinance are hereby declared to be separable and if any 
section, phrase, or provision shall for any reason be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be 
invalid or unenforceable, such declaration shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the sections, 
phrases, and provisions hereunder. 

Section 8. All orders, ordinances, resolutions, and parts thereof in conflict herewith are to the 
extent of such conflict hereby repealed.  This Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force from and after 
its passage and approval. 

[End of Ordinance] 
  



Enacted and approved, in meeting duly assembled, this 17th day of May, 2022. 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

By: __________________________________________ 
       Tommy Dunn, Chairman of County Council 
       Anderson County, South Carolina 

[SEAL] 

ATTEST: 

________________________________________ 
Rusty Burns, County Administrator 
Anderson County, South Carolina 

 

ATTEST: 

________________________________________ 
Renee D. Watts, Clerk to County Council 
Anderson County, South Carolina 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

________________________________________ 
Leon Harmon, County Attorney 
Anderson County, South Carolina 

 

First Reading: April 5, 2022 
Second Reading: May 3, 2022 
Public Hearing: May 17, 2022 
Third Reading: May 17, 2022 
 
 
 



DRAFT 5/12/2022 
 
 
 

FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AND INCENTIVE AGREEMENT 

by and between 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

and 

FEDEX GROUND PACKAGE SYSTEM, INC. 
 

and 
 

EVERGREEN ROAD ANDERSON, LLC 
 

Dated as of May 17, 2022 
 

 
 
 

 
 



 TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Page 

i 

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS ................................................................................................. 2 
Section 1.01. Definitions.................................................................................................. 2 
Section 1.02. References to Agreement ........................................................................... 8 
Section 1.03. Project-Related Investments ...................................................................... 8 

 

ARTICLE II REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES................................................ 8 
Section 2.01. Representations and Warranties by County ............................................... 8 
Section 2.02. Representations and Warranties by the Operating Company .................... 9 
Section 2.03. Representations and Warranties by the Real Property Owner ................... 9 

ARTICLE III COVENANTS OF COUNTY ....................................................................... 10 
Section 3.01. Agreement to Accept Negotiated FILOT Payments ................................ 10 
Section 3.02. Special Source Credits ............................................................................. 10 
Section 3.03. Multi-County Park Designation ............................................................... 12 
Section 3.04. Commensurate Benefits ........................................................................... 12 

ARTICLE IV COVENANTS OF THE COMPANIES ........................................................ 13 
Section 4.01. Investment in Project. .............................................................................. 13 
Section 4.02. Failure to Satisfy Minimum Contractual Investment Requirement 

and/or Minimum Jobs Requirement......................................................... 15 
Section 4.03. Payment of Administration Expenses ...................................................... 16 
Section 4.04. Use of Project for Lawful Activities ........................................................ 16 
Section 4.05. Maintenance of Existence ........................................................................ 16 
Section 4.06. Records and Reports ................................................................................ 17 
Section 4.07. Funding for Special Source Improvements .............................................. 19 
Section 4.08. Indemnification Covenants ...................................................................... 19 
Section 4.09. Operating Company Certification ............................................................ 19 

ARTICLE V FEES IN LIEU OF TAXES ........................................................................... 20 
Section 5.01. Payment of Fees in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes ....................................... 20 
Section 5.02. Statutory Lien........................................................................................... 25 

ARTICLE VI THIRD PARTY ARRANGEMENTS ........................................................... 25 
Section 6.01. Conveyance of Liens and Interests; Assignment ..................................... 25 
Section 6.02. Sponsors and Sponsor Affiliates .............................................................. 27 

ARTICLE VII TERM; TERMINATION............................................................................... 27 
Section 7.01. Term ......................................................................................................... 27 



 TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 (continued) 

Page 

ii 
   

Section 7.02. Termination .............................................................................................. 28 

ARTICLE VIII EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES ................................................ 28 
Section 8.01. Events of Default ..................................................................................... 28 
Section 8.02. Remedies on Event of Default ................................................................. 29 
Section 8.03. Defaulted Payments ................................................................................. 29 
Section 8.04. Default by County .................................................................................... 29 

ARTICLE IX MISCELLANEOUS ...................................................................................... 29 
Section 9.01. Rights and Remedies Cumulative ............................................................ 29 
Section 9.02. Successors and Assigns............................................................................ 30 
Section 9.03. Notices; Demands; Requests.................................................................... 30 
Section 9.04. Applicable Law ........................................................................................ 31 
Section 9.05. Entire Understanding ............................................................................... 31 
Section 9.06. Severability .............................................................................................. 31 
Section 9.07. Headings and Table of Contents; References .......................................... 31 
Section 9.08. Multiple Counterparts .............................................................................. 31 
Section 9.09. Amendments ............................................................................................ 31 
Section 9.10. Waiver ...................................................................................................... 32 
Section 9.11. Further Proceedings ................................................................................. 32 
Section 9.12. Disparity or Ambiguity with Inducement Resolution .............................. 32 

 
 
EXHIBIT A  LAND DESCRIPTION........................................................................................ A-1 
 

 



 

 1  

FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AND INCENTIVE AGREEMENT 

THIS FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AND INCENTIVE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) dated 
to be effective as of May 17, 2022, by and between ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH 
CAROLINA, a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina 
(the “County”), and FEDEX GROUND PACKAGE SYSTEM, INC., a Delaware corporation 
previously identified as Project Highway 81 Logistics Operating Company (the “Operating 
Company”), and EVERGREEN ROAD ANDERSON, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 
previously identified as Project Highway 81 Logistics Real Property Owner (the “Real Property 
Owner”), each acting for itself, one or more affiliates, and/or other project sponsors (each of the 
Operating Company and the Real Property Owner, a “Company” and collectively, the 
“Companies”). 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, the County, acting by and through its County Council (the “Council”), is 
authorized and empowered under and pursuant to the provisions of the Code of Laws of South 
Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Code”), particularly Title 12, Chapter 44 of the Code (the 
“Negotiated FILOT Act”) and Title 4, Chapter 1 of the Code (the “Multi-County Park Act”, or, as 
to Section 4-1-175 thereof, and by incorporation Section 4-29-68 of the Code, the “Special Source 
Act”) (collectively, the “Act”) and by Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina 
Constitution: (i) to enter into agreements with certain investors to construct, operate, maintain, and 
improve certain projects through which the economic development of the State of South Carolina 
(the “State”) will be promoted and trade developed by inducing manufacturing and commercial 
enterprises to locate and remain in the State and thus utilize and employ the manpower, agricultural 
products, and natural resources of the State; (ii) to covenant with such investors to accept certain 
fee in lieu of ad valorem tax (“FILOT”) payments, including, but not limited to, negotiated FILOT 
payments made pursuant to the Negotiated FILOT Act, with respect to a project; (iii) to permit 
investors to claim special source revenue credits against their FILOT payments to pay certain costs 
of infrastructure serving the County or improved or unimproved real property and personal 
property, including machinery and equipment, used in the operation of a manufacturing or 
commercial enterprise in order to enhance the economic development of the County; and (iv) to 
create, in conjunction with one or more other counties, a multi-county industrial or business park 
in order to afford certain enhanced income tax credits to such investors and to facilitate the grant 
of special source revenue credits; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Companies propose to establish and/or expand certain facilities at one or 

more locations in the County (the “Project”), and anticipate that, should their plans proceed as 
expected, the Companies will invest, or cause to be invested, in the aggregate, at least $45,343,000 
in the Project and will create, or cause to be created, in the aggregate, at least 12 new, full-time 
jobs at the Project by the end of the Compliance Period (as defined herein), as set forth in greater 
detail herein; and 



  

 2  

WHEREAS, the County has determined that the Project will subserve the purposes of the 
Act and has made certain findings pertaining thereto in accordance with the Act; and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with such findings and determinations and in order to induce 
the Companies to locate the Project in the County, the Council adopted Resolution No. 2022-022 
on April 5, 2022 (the “Inducement Resolution”), whereby the County agreed to provide the 
benefits of a negotiated FILOT, special source revenue credits, and a multi-county industrial or 
business park with respect to the Project, the terms of all of which are set forth in greater detail in 
this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the County has determined that it is in the best interests of the County to enter 
into this Agreement with the Companies, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, and, 
by Ordinance No. 2022-012 enacted by the Council on May 17, 2022 (the “Approval Ordinance”), 
approved the form, terms and conditions of this Agreement and ratified all prior actions taken with 
respect to the Project. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, the mutual covenants contained 
herein, the above recitals which are incorporated herein by reference, the potential investment to 
be made, or caused to be made, and the potential jobs to be created, or caused to be created, by the 
Companies which contribute to the tax base and the economic welfare of the County, the respective 
representations and agreements hereinafter contained, and for other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the County and the 
Companies agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.01. Definitions.  In addition to the words and terms elsewhere defined in this 
Agreement, the following words and terms as used herein and in the preambles hereto shall have 
the following meanings unless the context or use indicates another or different meaning or intent. 

“Act” shall mean, collectively, the Negotiated FILOT Act and the Multi-County Park Act, 
including, without limitation, the Special Source Act. 

“Administration Expenses” shall mean the reasonable and necessary expenses incurred by 
the County in the fulfillment of its obligations under this Agreement and in the implementation of 
its terms and provisions, including reasonable attorney’s fees, but excluding any expenses incurred 
by the County in defending either challenges to the incentives provided herein by third parties or 
suits brought by any Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate under Section 8.04 
hereof; provided, however, that no such expense shall be considered an Administration Expense 
unless the Company, or other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate, required to pay such expense 
hereunder is provided an itemized statement of all such expenses incurred and provided, further, 
that nothing herein shall be construed as prohibiting the County from engaging the counsel of its 
choice for matters deemed necessary and prudent by the County.  



  

 3  

“Affiliate” shall mean any corporation, limited liability company, partnership or other 
Person or entity which now or hereafter directly or indirectly owns all or part of any Company or 
any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate, as the case may be, or which is now or hereafter directly 
or indirectly owned in whole or in part by any Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate, 
as the case may be, or by any partner, shareholder or owner of any Company or any other Sponsor 
or Sponsor Affiliate, as the case may be, and shall also include any subsidiary, affiliate or other 
Person, individual, or entity who now or hereafter bears a relationship to any Company or any 
other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate, as the case may be, as described in Section 267(b) of the 
Internal Revenue Code. 

“Agreement” shall mean this Fee in Lieu of Tax and Incentive Agreement as originally 
executed and from time to time supplemented or amended as permitted herein. 

“Code” shall mean the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, unless the 
context clearly requires otherwise. 

 “Company” shall mean each of the Operating Company and the Real Property Owner, 
each with respect to its respective portion of the Project. 

“Companies” shall mean the Operating Company and the Real Property Owner, 
collectively. 

“Compliance Period” shall mean the period commencing with the first day that Negotiated 
FILOT Property is purchased or acquired, whether before or after the date of this Agreement, and 
ending on the fifth (5th) anniversary of the end of the Property Tax Year in which the initial 
Negotiated FILOT Property comprising all or a portion of the Project is placed in service, all as 
specified in Section 12-44-30(13) of the Negotiated FILOT Act.  It is presently anticipated, but 
not required, that the initial Negotiated FILOT Property comprising all or a portion of the Project 
will be placed in service in the Property Tax Year (applicable to the Real Property Owner) ending 
on December 31, 2022, and, in such event, the Compliance Period applicable to both the Real 
Property Owner and the Operating Company will end on December 31, 2027.  

“Council” shall mean the governing body of the County and its successors. 

“County” shall mean Anderson County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and 
a political subdivision of the State, and its successors and assigns. 

“Credit Eligible Entity” shall have the meaning specified in Section 3.02(a) hereof. 

“Deficiency Payment” shall have the meaning specified in Section 5.01(e) hereof. 

“Department of Revenue” shall mean the South Carolina Department of Revenue and any 
successor thereof. 

“Event of Default” shall mean an Event of Default, as set forth in Section 8.01 hereof. 



  

 4  

“Existing Property” shall mean property which will not qualify for the Negotiated FILOT 
pursuant to Section 12-44-110 of the Negotiated FILOT Act, including, without limitation, 
property which has been subject to ad valorem taxes in the State prior to commencement of the 
Investment Period and property included in the Project as part of the repair, alteration, or 
modification of such previously taxed property; provided, however, that Existing Property shall 
not include: (a) the Land; (b) property acquired or constructed by or on behalf of any Company or 
any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate during the Investment Period which has not been placed in 
service in this State prior to the commencement of the Investment Period notwithstanding that ad 
valorem taxes have heretofore been paid with respect to such property, or property which has been 
placed in service in the State pursuant to an inducement agreement or other preliminary approval 
by the County, including the Inducement Resolution, prior to execution of this Agreement pursuant 
to Section 12-44-40(E) of the Negotiated FILOT Act, which property shall qualify as Negotiated 
FILOT Property; (c) property purchased by or on behalf of any Company or any other Sponsor or 
Sponsor Affiliate during the Investment Period in a transaction other than between any of the 
entities specified in Section 267(b) of the Internal Revenue Code, as defined under Chapter 6 of 
Title 12 of the Code as of the time of the transfer, to the extent that such Company or such other 
Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate invests at least an additional $45,000,000 in the Project, exclusive of 
the property identified in this subsection (c); or (d) modifications which constitute an expansion 
of the real property portion of Existing Property. 

“FILOT” shall mean fee in lieu of ad valorem property taxes.   

“FILOT Payment” or “FILOT Payments” shall mean the FILOT payments to be made by 
any Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate with respect to its respective portion of 
the Project, whether made as Negotiated FILOT Payments pursuant to Section 5.01 hereof or as 
FILOT payments made pursuant to the Multi-County Park Act. 

“Investment Period” shall mean the period for completion of the Project, which shall 
initially be equal to the Compliance Period; provided, however, that, if the Minimum Contractual 
Investment Requirement is satisfied by the end of the Compliance Period, the Investment Period 
shall be automatically extended, without further action or proceedings of the County or the 
Council, by five (5) years beyond the Compliance Period to end on the tenth (10th) anniversary of 
the end of the Property Tax Year in which the initial Negotiated FILOT Property comprising all 
or a portion of the Project is placed in service, all in accordance with Section 12-44-30(13) of the 
Negotiated FILOT Act; provided further that there shall be no extension of the period for meeting 
the Minimum Statutory Investment Requirement beyond the Compliance Period, all determined 
as specified in Section 12-44-30(13) of the Negotiated FILOT Act. In the event that the initial 
Negotiated FILOT Property comprising all or a portion of the Project is, as presently anticipated, 
placed in service in the Property Tax Year (applicable to the Real Property Owner) ending on 
December 31, 2022, upon any such extension, the Investment Period applicable to both the Real 
Property Owner and the Operating Company would end on December 31, 2032. 



  

 5  

“Land” shall mean the land upon which the Project has been or will be acquired, 
constructed and equipped, as described in Exhibit A attached hereto, as Exhibit A may be revised, 
modified, or supplemented from time to time in accordance with the provisions hereof. 

“Minimum Contractual Investment Requirement” shall mean investment in the Project, 
within the period commencing on the first day that Project property comprising all or a portion of 
the Project is purchased or acquired, whether before or after the date of this Agreement, and ending 
at the end of the Compliance Period, by the Companies and all Sponsors and Sponsor Affiliates, 
in the aggregate, of at least $45,343,000 (without regard to depreciation or other diminution in 
value). 

“Minimum Jobs Requirement” shall mean the creation at the Project of at least 12 new, 
full-time jobs in the County by the Companies and all other Sponsors or Sponsor Affiliates, in the 
aggregate, within the Compliance Period. 

“Minimum Statutory Investment Requirement” shall mean investment in the Project of not 
less than $2,500,000 within the Compliance Period, as set forth in Section 12-44-30(14) of the 
Negotiated FILOT Act, which investment amount shall be calculated in accordance with, and 
subject to, Section 12-44-130 of the Negotiated FILOT Act and Section 6.02 hereof. 

“Multi-County Park” shall mean the multi-county industrial or business park established 
pursuant to the Multi-County Park Act and the Multi-County Park Agreement, and any multi-
county industrial or business park which now or hereafter includes the Project and which is 
designated by the County as such pursuant to any agreement which supersedes or replaces the 
initial Multi-County Park Agreement. 

“Multi-County Park Act” shall mean Title 4, Chapter 1 of the Code. 

“Multi-County Park Agreement” shall mean that certain multi-county park agreement 
between the County and Greenville County, South Carolina, dated as of December 1, 2010, as 
supplemented, modified or amended, and, as such agreement may be further supplemented, 
modified, amended or replaced from time to time. 

“Negotiated FILOT” or “Negotiated FILOT Payments” shall mean the FILOT payments 
due pursuant to Section 5.01 hereof with respect to that portion of the Project consisting of 
Negotiated FILOT Property qualifying under the Negotiated FILOT Act for the negotiated 
assessment ratio and millage rate or rates described in Section 5.01(b)(ii) hereof. 

“Negotiated FILOT Act” shall mean Title 12, Chapter 44 of the Code. 

“Negotiated FILOT Property” shall mean all Project property qualifying for the 
Negotiated FILOT as “economic development property” within the meaning of Section 12-44-
30(6) of the Negotiated FILOT Act, including, without limitation, each item of real and tangible 
personal property comprising the Project which is placed in service during the Investment Period 
and which meets the requirements of Sections 12-44-30(6) and 12-44-40(C) of the Negotiated 



  

 6  

FILOT Act, together with all Replacement Property, but excluding any Non-Qualifying Property 
and any Released Property.   

“Non-Qualifying Property” shall mean that portion of the real and personal property 
located on the Land, which does not qualify as Negotiated FILOT Property, such Non-Qualifying 
Property to include: (i) Existing Property; (ii) except as to Replacement Property, property which 
any Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate places in service after the end of the 
Investment Period; and (iii) any other property which fails or ceases to qualify for Negotiated 
FILOT Payments under the Negotiated FILOT Act or under this Agreement, including without 
limitation property as to which any Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate has 
terminated the Negotiated FILOT pursuant to Section 4.01(e)(iii) hereof. 

“Operating Company” shall mean FedEx Ground Package System, Inc., a Delaware 
corporation previously identified as Project Highway 81 Logistics Operating Company, and any 
surviving, resulting, or transferee entity in any merger, consolidation or transfer of assets permitted 
under Sections 4.05 or 6.01 hereof or any other assignee or transferee hereunder which is 
designated by the Operating Company and approved by the County, to the extent such approval is 
applicable. 

“Person” shall mean and include any individual, association, unincorporated organization, 
corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, or government or agency or 
political subdivision thereof. 

“Project” shall mean: (i) the Land and all buildings, structures, fixtures and other real 
property improvements now or hereafter constructed on the Land; (ii) all machinery, equipment, 
furnishings and other personal property now or hereafter acquired by or on behalf of any Company 
or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate for use on or about the Land; and (iii) any Replacement 
Property; provided, however, except as to Replacement Property, the term Project shall be deemed 
to include any such real property improvements and personal property, whether now existing or 
hereafter constructed, improved, acquired or equipped, only to the extent placed in service within 
the Investment Period. 

“Property Tax Year” shall mean the annual period which is equal to the fiscal year of the 
Companies, or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate, as the case may be, i.e., with respect to the 
Operating Company, the annual period ending on May 31 of each year, and, with respect to the 
Real Property Owner, the annual period ending on December 31 of each year. 

“Real Property Owner” shall mean Evergreen Road Anderson, LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company previously identified as Project Highway 81 Logistics Real Property Owner, and 
any surviving, resulting, or transferee entity in any merger, consolidation or transfer of assets 
permitted under Sections 4.05 or 6.01 hereof or any other assignee or transferee hereunder which 
is designated by the Real Property Owner and approved by the County, to the extent such approval 
is applicable. 



  

 7  

“Released Property” shall include property which was initially Negotiated FILOT 
Property but which is scrapped, sold, disposed of, or released from this Agreement by any 
Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate pursuant to Section 4.01(e) hereof and Section 
12-44-50(B) of the Negotiated FILOT Act, any portion of the Negotiated FILOT Property 
constituting infrastructure which any Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate dedicates 
to the public use within the meaning of Section 12-6-3420(C) of the Code, or property which is 
damaged, destroyed, or taken by process of eminent domain and not restored or replaced. 

“Replacement Property” shall mean all property placed in service on the Land in 
substitution of, or as replacement for, any Negotiated FILOT Property which becomes Released 
Property, regardless of whether such property serves the same function as the property it replaces 
and regardless of whether more than one piece of such property replaces a single piece of the 
Negotiated FILOT Property, to the maximum extent that such property may be included in the 
calculation of the Negotiated FILOT pursuant to Section 5.01(d) hereof and Section 12-44-60 of 
the Negotiated FILOT Act. 

“Special Source Act” shall mean Section 4-1-175 of the Code. 

“Special Source Credits” shall mean the special source revenue credits described in 
Section 3.02 hereof. 

“Special Source Improvements” shall mean, to the extent paid for by any Company or any 
other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate, any infrastructure serving the economic development of the 
County and any improved or unimproved real property, buildings, structural components of 
buildings, fixtures, or other real property improvements, and personal property, including 
machinery and equipment, used in the operation of a manufacturing or commercial enterprise in 
order to enhance the economic development of the County, all as set forth in the Special Source 
Act. For purposes of this Agreement, Special Source Improvements shall initially be deemed to 
include, without limitation, all roadwork, water, sewer, drainage, power and utility facilities 
serving the Project, as well as the Land, the buildings, fixtures and other real property 
improvements on the Land, and any additions or improvements to any of the foregoing, whether 
paid for by any Company or any Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate directly or through lease payments. 
Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the County, the Operating Company, 
and the Real Property Owner hereby agree that, to the maximum extent permitted by law, 
aggregate expenditures made by the Real Property Owner in Special Source Improvements shall 
be jointly allocated to the Operating Company and the Real Property Owner for purposes of 
receiving the Special Source Credits; provided, however, in the event that (i) a court of competent 
jurisdiction holds that such allocation provisions are invalid or unenforceable in any material 
respect, or should the Operating Company determine that there is reasonable doubt as to the 
validity or enforceability of such allocation provision and provide written notice to the County of 
such determination, and (ii) the Operating Company has made insufficient expenditures in Special 
Source Improvements, as initially delineated above, to offset any Special Source Credits it has 
theretofore received, or will receive, the Operating Company shall be hereby automatically 
deemed to have elected, on behalf of itself and as set forth above, to include personal property, 



  

 8  

including machinery and equipment, as Special Source Improvements as of the earlier of (i) 
effective date of any such holding of invalidity or unenforceability, or (ii) the date of any such 
written notice, as the case may be, subject to, and in accordance with, any applicable provisions of 
Section 4-29-68(A)(2)(ii) of the Code in the event that personal property is removed from the 
Project. 

“Sponsor” and “Sponsor Affiliate” shall mean an entity whose investment with respect to 
the Project will qualify for the Negotiated FILOT pursuant to Section 6.02 hereof and Sections 
12-44-30(19) or (20) and Section 12-44-130 of the Negotiated FILOT Act if the statutory 
investment requirements are met.  As of the original execution and delivery of this Agreement, the 
only Sponsors are the Companies and there are no Sponsor Affiliates. 

“State” shall mean the State of South Carolina. 

“Term” shall mean the term of this Agreement, as set forth in Section 7.01 hereof. 

“Transfer Provisions” shall mean the provisions of Section 12-44-120 of the Negotiated 
FILOT Act. 

Section 1.02. References to Agreement. The words “hereof”, “herein”, “hereunder”, and 
other words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole. 

Section 1.03. Project-Related Investments.  The term “investment” or “invest” as used 
herein shall include not only investments made by the Companies and any Sponsor Affiliates, but 
also to the fullest extent permitted by law, those investments made by or for the benefit of any 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliate with respect to the Project through federal, state, or local grants, 
to the extent such investments are subject to ad valorem taxes or FILOT Payments, as the case 
may be, by such Company. 

ARTICLE II 
 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.01. Representations and Warranties by County.  The County makes the 
following representations and warranties as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein 
contained: 

(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the 
State and is authorized and empowered by the provisions of the Act to enter into the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder. By 
proper action by the Council, the County has duly authorized the execution and delivery of 
this Agreement and has duly approved the Negotiated FILOT, Special Source Credits, and 
the inclusion and maintenance of the Project in the Multi-County Park, all as set forth 
herein, as well as any and all actions reasonably necessary and appropriate to consummate 
the transactions contemplated hereby. 



  

 9  

(b) On the basis of information supplied to it by the Companies, the County has 
determined the Project will subserve the purposes of the Act and has made all other findings 
of fact required by the Act in connection with the undertaking of the arrangements set forth 
herein. 

(c) This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered on behalf 
of the County.  The authorization, execution, and delivery of this Agreement and the 
performance by the County of its obligations hereunder will not, to the best knowledge of 
the County, conflict with or constitute a breach of, or a default under, any State law, court 
or administrative regulation, decree, order, provision of the Constitution or laws of the 
State relating to the establishment of the County or its affairs, or any material agreement, 
mortgage, lease, or other instrument to which the County is subject or by which it is bound, 
nor, to the best knowledge of the County, any existing law or the provisions of the 
Constitution of the State. 

(d) To the best knowledge of the County, no actions, suits, proceedings, 
inquiries, or investigations are pending or threatened against or affecting the County in any 
court or before any governmental authority or arbitration board or tribunal, any of which, 
to the best knowledge of the County, could materially adversely affect this Agreement or 
which could, in any way, adversely affect the validity or enforceability of this Agreement 
or the transactions contemplated hereby. 

Section 2.02. Representations and Warranties by the Operating Company.  The Operating 
Company makes the following representations and warranties as the basis for the undertakings on 
its part herein contained: 

(a) The Operating Company is a corporation validly existing and in good 
standing under the laws of the State of Delaware and is authorized to do business in the 
State of South Carolina, has all requisite power to enter into this Agreement and to carry 
out its obligations hereunder, and by proper action has been duly authorized to execute and 
deliver this Agreement.  The Operating Company’s fiscal year end is May 31 and the 
Operating Company will notify the County of any changes in the fiscal year of the 
Operating Company. 

(b) The Operating Company intends to operate the Project as facilities for 
sorting and distribution and related activities. 

(c) The agreements with the County with respect to the Negotiated FILOT, the 
Special Source Credits, and the Multi-County Park, as set forth herein, were factors in 
inducing the Operating Company to locate the Project within the County and the State. 

(d) To the best knowledge of the Operating Company, no actions, suits, 
proceedings, inquiries, or investigations are pending or threatened against or affecting the 
Operating Company in any court or before any governmental authority or arbitration board 
or tribunal, which would materially adversely affect this Agreement or which would, in 



  

 10  

any way, adversely affect the validity or enforceability of this Agreement or the 
transactions contemplated hereby. 

Section 2.03. Representations and Warranties by the Real Property Owner.  The Real 
Property Owner makes the following representations and warranties as the basis for the 
undertakings on its part herein contained: 

(a) The Real Property Owner is a limited liability company validly existing and 
in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware and is authorized to do business 
in the State of South Carolina, has all requisite power to enter into this Agreement and to 
carry out its obligations hereunder, and by proper action has been duly authorized to 
execute and deliver this Agreement.  The Real Property Owner’s fiscal year end is 
December 31 and the Real Property Owner will notify the County of any changes in the 
fiscal year of the Real Property Owner. 

(b) The Real Property Owner intends that the Project be operated as facilities 
for sorting and distribution and related activities. 

(c) The agreements with the County with respect to the Negotiated FILOT, the 
Special Source Credits, and the Multi-County Park, as set forth herein, were factors in 
inducing the Real Property Owner to locate the Project within the County and the State. 

(d) To the best knowledge of the Real Property Owner, no actions, suits, 
proceedings, inquiries, or investigations are pending or threatened against or affecting the 
Real Property Owner in any court or before any governmental authority or arbitration board 
or tribunal, which would materially adversely affect this Agreement or which would, in 
any way, adversely affect the validity or enforceability of this Agreement or the 
transactions contemplated hereby. 

ARTICLE III 
 

COVENANTS OF COUNTY 

Section 3.01. Agreement to Accept Negotiated FILOT Payments.  The County hereby 
agrees to accept Negotiated FILOT Payments in accordance with the provisions of Section 5.01 
hereof in lieu of ad valorem taxes with respect to that portion of the Project consisting of 
Negotiated FILOT Property until this Agreement expires or is sooner terminated. 

Section 3.02. Special Source Credits. 

(a) As reimbursement for investment in Special Source Improvements and 
subject to the requirements of the Special Source Act and Section 4.02 hereof, the County 
hereby agrees that the Companies and each other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate (each, a 
“Credit Eligible Entity”) shall be entitled to receive, and the County shall provide, Special 
Source Credits against each Negotiated FILOT Payment due from each such Credit 



  

 11  

Eligible Entity with respect to its respective portion the Project, for a period of fifteen (15) 
consecutive tax years, commencing with the tax year for which the initial Negotiated 
FILOT Payment is due with respect to the Project, as follows: (i) for the first five (5) such 
tax years, in an amount equal to fifty percent (50%) of each such Negotiated FILOT 
Payment; and (ii) for the remaining ten (10) such tax years, in an amount equal to forty 
percent (40%) of each such Negotiated FILOT Payment; provided, however, if by the 
second anniversary of the “commencement date” (here and hereinafter, as such term is 
defined in the Negotiated FILOT Act), new job creation at the Project by the Companies 
and any other Sponsors or Sponsor Affiliates is not at least 10 new, full-time jobs, in the 
aggregate, at the Project and/or total investment in the Project by the Companies and any 
other Sponsors or Sponsor Affiliates is not at least $35,000,000, in the aggregate, the 
applicable Special Source Credit percentage shall be reduced from fifty percent (50%) to 
thirty percent (30%), on a prospective basis, commencing with the Negotiated FILOT 
Payment corresponding to the Property Tax Year containing the second anniversary of the 
commencement date; provided, further, however, that in the event of a reduction of the 
Special Source Credit percentage set forth above, if the Companies satisfy both the 
Minimum Contractual Investment Requirement and the Minimum Jobs Requirement by 
the end of the Compliance Period (i.e., the fifth anniversary of the commencement date), 
such reduced Special Source Credit percentage shall revert to the original Special Source 
Credit percentage of forty percent (40%) prospectively, commencing with the Negotiated 
FILOT Payment corresponding to the Property Tax Year containing the last day of the 
Compliance Period.  In accordance with the Special Source Act, the Special Source Credits 
authorized herein shall not, in the aggregate, exceed the aggregate cost of Special Source 
Improvements funded from time to time in connection with the Project by the Companies 
and all other Sponsor and Sponsor Affiliates.  

(b) The Special Source Credits to which a Credit Eligible Entity is entitled for 
each tax year of the period set forth in Section 3.02(a) hereof shall be reflected by the 
County on each bill sent by the County to such Credit Eligible Entity for each Negotiated 
FILOT Payment due from such Credit Eligible Entity with respect to each such tax year, 
by reducing the total original Negotiated FILOT Payment amount otherwise due from such 
Credit Eligible Entity for such tax year by the amount of Special Source Credits to which 
such Credit Eligible Entity is entitled for such tax year. 

(c) As provided in Section 4-29-68 of the Code, to the extent any Special 
Source Credits are taken against any Negotiated FILOT Payment on personal property, and 
the personal property is removed from the Project at any time during the term of this 
Agreement (and not replaced with qualifying Replacement Property), the amount of the 
Negotiated FILOT Payment due on such personal property for the year in which such 
personal property was removed from the Project shall be due from the Company 
completing such removal for the two (2) years immediately following such removal. 

(d) THE SPECIAL SOURCE CREDITS AUTHORIZED HEREIN SHALL 
NOT CONSTITUTE A GENERAL OBLIGATION OF THE COUNTY, BUT SHALL BE 



  

 12  

A LIMITED OBLIGATION OF THE COUNTY PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE 
FILOT PAYMENTS RECEIVED BY THE COUNTY HEREUNDER WITH RESPECT 
TO THE PROJECT. 

Section 3.03. Multi-County Park Designation. The County agrees to use its best efforts to 
designate the Project, including, but not limited to the Land, as part of a Multi-County Park, if not 
already so designated, and agrees to use its best efforts to maintain the Project within the 
boundaries of the Multi-County Park pursuant to the provisions of the Multi-County Park Act and 
Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the State Constitution on terms, and for a duration, which facilitate 
the provision by the County, and the receipt by each Credit Eligible Entity, of the Special Source 
Credits set forth in Section 3.02 hereof. 

Section 3.04. Commensurate Benefits.  The parties hereto acknowledge the intent of this 
Agreement, in part, is to afford each Company and each other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate the 
benefits specified in this Article III in consideration of the Companies’ decision to locate the 
Project within the County, and this Agreement has been entered into in reliance upon the enactment 
of the Act and the County’s compliance with the requirements thereof.  In the event that a court of 
competent jurisdiction holds that the Act is, in whole or in part, unconstitutional or this Agreement, 
the Multi-County Park Agreement, or agreements similar in nature to this Agreement or the Multi-
County Park Agreement are invalid or unenforceable in any material respect, or should any 
Company determine there is a reasonable doubt as to the validity or enforceability of this 
Agreement or the Multi-County Park Agreement in any material respect, then, at the request of 
any Company, the County agrees to use its best efforts, and to take such other steps as may be 
necessary, to extend to each Company and each other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate the intended 
benefits of this Agreement, including, but not limited to, the Negotiated FILOT and the Special 
Source Credits, and agrees, if requested by the Companies, to enter into a lease purchase agreement 
with the Companies and each other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate pursuant to Section 12-44-160 of 
the Negotiated FILOT Act and Title 4, Chapter 29 or Title 4, Chapter 12 of the Code, as applicable. 
In furtherance of this covenant, the County also agrees that, in the event that, for any reason, the 
Multi-County Park is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable 
in whole or in part, the Companies and the County express their intentions that the tax or FILOT 
payments be reformed so as to best afford the Companies and each other Sponsor or Sponsor 
Affiliate benefits commensurate with, but not in excess of, those intended under this Agreement, 
including but not limited to the Special Source Credits, as then permitted by law, including, 
without limitation, any benefits afforded under Title 12, Chapter 6, Title 4, Chapter 1, and Title 4, 
Chapter 29 of the Code, as applicable, to the extent allowed by law. Each Company acknowledges, 
if a court of competent jurisdiction holds all or part of the Negotiated FILOT Act is 
unconstitutional or otherwise illegal, the Negotiated FILOT Act currently provides that each 
Company and each other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate must transfer their respective portion of the 
Negotiated FILOT Property to the County within one hundred eighty (180) days following such 
determination in order for the Negotiated FILOT benefits to continue to apply to such property.  
In any such lease purchase agreement referenced above, the County, upon the conveyance of title 
to the Project to the County at the expense of the Companies or any other Sponsor or Sponsor 
Affiliate, as the case may be, agrees to lease the Project to the Companies or any such other 



  

 13  

Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate, as the case may be.  At the end of the term of any such lease purchase 
agreement, and upon payment of all outstanding obligations incurred under such lease purchase 
agreement, each of the Companies and any such other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate shall have the 
option to purchase its respective portion of the Project from the County for Ten Dollars ($10.00). 

ARTICLE IV 
 

COVENANTS OF THE COMPANIES 

Section 4.01. Investment in Project. 

(a) The Companies hereby agree to use commercially reasonable efforts to 
acquire, construct, equip, or improve or cause to be acquired, constructed, equipped, or 
improved, the Project, as the same shall be determined from time to time by the Companies 
in their sole discretion.  As required by Section 12-44-30(2) of the Negotiated FILOT Act, 
at least a portion of the Negotiated FILOT Property comprising the Project shall be placed 
in service no later than the end of the Property Tax Year which is three (3) years from the 
year in which this Agreement is entered, i.e., based on the Operating Company’s Property 
Tax Year ending on May 31 of each year, the Property Tax Year ending on May 31, 2025. 

(b) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, and to the maximum 
extent permitted by law, investment in the Project and job creation in the County by any 
and all other Sponsors and Sponsor Affiliates shall together with investment in the Project 
and job creation in the County by the Companies, count toward all investment and job 
creation requirements, thresholds, and levels set forth in this Agreement, including, without 
limitation, the Minimum Contractual Investment Requirement, the Minimum Jobs 
Requirement, and, to the full extent permitted by the Negotiated FILOT Act, the Minimum 
Statutory Investment Requirement. Aggregate investment shall generally be determined by 
reference to the property tax returns of each Company and each other Sponsor or Sponsor 
Affiliate filed with respect to the Project, including without limitation, each such entity’s 
SCDOR PT-300, or such comparable forms as the Department of Revenue may provide in 
connection with projects under the Act, without regard to depreciation or other diminution 
in value.  

(c) To encourage increased investment in the Project, the County hereby agrees 
that in the event the Minimum Contractual Investment Requirement is satisfied by the end 
of Compliance Period, the Investment Period shall be automatically extended, without 
further action or proceedings of the County or the Council, by five (5) years beyond the 
end of the Compliance Period, and the County hereby agrees to such extension.  There shall 
be no extension, however, beyond the Compliance Period of the period for meeting the 
Minimum Statutory Investment Requirement.  In the event that the initial Negotiated 
FILOT Property comprising all or a portion of the Project is, as the parties hereto presently 
anticipate, placed in service in the Property Tax Year (applicable to the Real Property 
Owner) ending on December 31, 2022, and upon any such extension, the Investment Period 



  

 14  

applicable to both the Real Property Owner and the Operating Company would extend 
through December 31, 2032. 

(d) Subject to the provisions of Sections 4.05 and 6.01 hereof, each Company 
and each other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate shall retain title to, or other property rights in, 
its respective portion of the Project throughout the Term, and each Company and each other 
Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate shall have full right to mortgage, lease, or encumber all or 
any portion of its respective portion of the Project, including without limitation, in 
connection with any financing transactions, all without the consent of the County. 

(e) Each Company and each other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate shall have the 
right at any time and from time to time during the Term hereof to undertake any of the 
following: 

(i) Each Company and each other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate 
may, at its own expense, add to the Project all such real and personal property 
as such Company, or such other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate, in its discretion 
deems useful or desirable, including, without limitation, Negotiated FILOT 
Property, without any limit as to the amount thereof. 

(ii) Subject to the provisions of Section 5.01(f) hereof, in any 
instance when any Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate, in its 
discretion, determines any property included in its respective portion of the 
Project, including without limitation, any Negotiated FILOT Property, has 
become inadequate, obsolete, worn out, unsuitable, undesirable, or 
unnecessary for operations at the Project, such Company or such other 
Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate may remove such property from its respective 
portion of the Project and sell, trade in, exchange, or otherwise dispose of such 
property as a whole or in part without the consent of the County; provided, 
however, any such removal by the Real Property Owner, or any Sponsor 
Affiliate designated hereunder by the Real Property Owner, shall, during the 
term of any lease or similar agreement between the Operating Company and 
the Real Property Owner, require the prior written consent of the Operating 
Company. 

(iii) Each Company and each other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate 
may, at any time and in its discretion by written notice to the County, remove 
any Project property including, but not limited to, Negotiated FILOT Property, 
real or personal, from its respective portion of the Project or from the 
provisions of this Agreement, including, but not limited to, the Negotiated 
FILOT arrangement set forth in this Agreement, and retain such property for 
use as part of its operations in the County, whether or not such property 
remains as part of the Project, and effective as of the date of any such removal, 
such property will be subject to ad valorem taxes or to FILOT payments 
pursuant to the Multi-County Park Act, as the case may be; provided, that, any 



  

 15  

such notice requirement may be, but shall not be required to be, satisfied by 
property tax returns filed with respect to such entity’s respective portion of the 
Project and any other such property, including without limitation, such entity’s 
SCDOR PT-300, or such comparable forms as the Department of Revenue 
may provide in connection with projects under the Act, and in such event, any 
such removal reflected by any such return shall be deemed to be effective as 
of the date of such removal; provided, however, any such removal by the Real 
Property Owner, or Sponsor Affiliate designated hereunder by the Real 
Property Owner, shall, during the term of any lease or similar agreement 
between the Operating Company and the Real Property Owner, require the 
prior written consent of the Operating Company. 

(iv) If any Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate 
sells, leases, or otherwise disposes of any portion of, or adds to, the Land, or 
removes any portion of the Land from its respective portion of the Project 
while retaining such property for use as part of its operations in the County, 
all as permitted herein, such Company or such Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate 
shall deliver to the County a revised Exhibit A to this Agreement or 
supplements to Exhibit A reflecting any such addition, disposal or removal 
and such revised or supplemented Exhibit A shall, effective as of the date of 
any such transaction, addition, disposal, or removal, be automatically made a 
part of this Agreement without further action or proceedings by the County or 
the Council; provided, that any requirement to provide such schedules or 
supplements to the County may be satisfied by property tax returns filed with 
respect to such entity’s respective portion of the Project and any other such 
property, including without limitation, such entity’s SCDOR PT-300, or such 
comparable forms as the Department of Revenue may provide in connection 
with projects under the Act, and in such event, any such addition, disposal, or 
removal reflected by any such return shall be automatically deemed effective 
as of the date of any such addition, disposal, or removal; provided, however, 
any such addition, disposal, or removal by the Real Property Owner, or any 
Sponsor Affiliate designated hereunder by the Real Property Owner, shall, 
during the term of any lease or similar agreement between the Operating 
Company and the Real Property Owner, require the prior written consent of 
the Operating Company. 

(v) All Negotiated FILOT Property sold or otherwise disposed of 
under this Section shall be deemed Released Property for purposes of this 
Agreement. 

Section 4.02. Failure to Satisfy Minimum Contractual Investment Requirement and/or 
Minimum Jobs Requirement. If either or both the Minimum Contractual Investment Requirement 
and the Minimum Jobs Requirement are not satisfied by the end of the Compliance Period, each 
of the following subsections (a) – (c) shall apply:  



  

 16  

(a) Each Company and each other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate shall continue 
to be eligible for the Negotiated FILOT described in Section 5.01 hereof so long as the 
Minimum Statutory Investment Requirement is satisfied by the end of the Compliance 
Period, as applicable under and pursuant to Section 5.01 hereof. 

(b) Each Credit Eligible Entity shall continue to be eligible for Special Source 
Credits against each FILOT Payment due from such Credit Eligible Entity with respect to 
its respective portion of the Project for the remaining tax years of the period set forth in 
Section 3.02(a) hereof; provided, however, that the applicable Special Source Credits 
percentage shall be reduced to thirty percent (30%), unless already so reduced pursuant to 
Section 3.02(a) hereof, prospectively, commencing with the Negotiated FILOT Payment 
corresponding to the Property Tax Year containing the last day of the Compliance Period 
(e.g., the Negotiated FILOT Payment due on or before January 15, 2025 corresponds to the 
Property Tax Year (applicable to the Operating Company) ending May 31, 2023 and the 
Property Tax Year (applicable to the Real Property Owner) ending on December 31, 2023. 

Section 4.03. Payment of Administration Expenses.  The Operating Company will 
reimburse, or cause reimbursement of, the County from time to time for the County’s 
Administration Expenses incurred in the fulfillment of its obligations hereunder, or in the 
implementation of this Agreement’s terms and provisions promptly upon written request therefor, 
but in no event later than forty-five (45) days after receiving written notice from the County 
specifying the nature of such expense and requesting the payment of the same.  The County 
acknowledges that it imposes no charges in the nature of impact fees or recurring fees in connection 
with the Project or the incentives authorized by this Agreement, and, aside from the attorneys’ fees 
set forth below, the County anticipates no out of pocket expenses in connection with this 
Agreement and the transactions authorized hereby.  The parties hereto understand that the County 
has incurred, and will incur, legal fees and other expenses for review of the Inducement Resolution, 
this Agreement, the Multi-County Park Agreement, and all resolutions, ordinances and other 
documentation related thereto in an amount not to exceed $5,000. 

Section 4.04. Use of Project for Lawful Activities.  During the Term, the Companies and 
each other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate may use its respective portion of the Project as it deems 
fit for any lawful purpose. 

Section 4.05. Maintenance of Existence.  Except in the event the resulting, surviving or 
transferee entity is any Company or an Affiliate of any Company, as to which such consolidation, 
merger, or transfer the County hereby preapproves and consents, unless the County shall provide 
prior consent or subsequent ratification otherwise, which consent or ratification shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed, each Company covenants that it will maintain its 
separate existence and will not dissolve or consolidate with, merge into or transfer, or otherwise 
dispose of substantially all of its property to any other entity or permit one or more other entities 
to consolidate with or merge into it or purchase substantially all of its property unless:   

(a) such Company shall be the continuing business entity, or the business entity 
formed by such consolidation or into which such Company is merged or the entity which 



  

 17  

acquires by conveyance or transfer all or substantially all of such Company’s assets shall 
(i) be an entity organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America or 
any state thereof or the District of Columbia and qualified to do business in the State; (ii) 
have a net worth equal to or greater than the net worth of such Company immediately 
preceding the date of such merger, consolidation or transfer; and (iii) expressly and 
unconditionally assume, by written agreement supplemental hereto and acceptable to the 
County as to form and content, in its reasonable discretion, every payment obligation of 
such Company herein and the performance of every covenant of this Agreement on the part 
of such Company to be performed or observed; and 

(b) immediately after giving effect to such transaction, no Event of Default, and 
no event, which, after notice or lapse of time or both, would become an Event of Default, 
shall have happened and be continuing; and  

(c) such Company shall have delivered to the County (i) a certificate of a duly 
authorized officer of such Company, accompanied by financial statements of the surviving 
company (if other than such Company) showing compliance with the net worth 
requirements specified in paragraph (a) above and (ii) an opinion of counsel for such 
Company or counsel to the transferee company stating that such consolidation, merger, 
conveyance or transfer and such supplement to this Agreement comply with this Section 
and that all conditions precedent herein provided for relating to such transaction have been 
complied with. 

Upon any consolidation or merger or any conveyance or transfer of all or substantially all 
of any Company’s assets in accordance with this Section 4.05, the successor entity formed by such 
consolidation or into which such Company is merged or to which such conveyance or transfer is 
made, shall succeed to, and be substituted for, and may exercise every right and power of such 
Company under this Agreement with the same effect as if such successor entity had been named 
as a Company herein, and thereafter such Company shall be relieved of all obligations and 
covenants under this Agreement.   

 
If a consolidation, merger or conveyance or transfer is made as permitted by this Section, 

the provisions of this Section shall continue in full force and effect and no further consolidation, 
merger or conveyance or transfer shall be made except in compliance with the provisions of this 
Section 4.05. 
 

Each Company acknowledges transfers of this Agreement or the Negotiated FILOT 
Property may cause the Negotiated FILOT Property to become ineligible for a Negotiated FILOT 
or result in penalties under the Negotiated FILOT Act absent compliance by each Company with 
the Transfer Provisions. 

 
Section 4.06. Records and Reports.  Each Company and each other Sponsor or Sponsor 

Affiliate will maintain, or cause to be maintained, such books and records with respect to its 
respective portion of the Project as will permit the identification of those portions of the Project it 



  

 18  

places in service during the Investment Period, the amount of investment with respect thereto, and 
any computations of Negotiated FILOT Payments made by such entity hereunder, and will comply 
with all reporting requirements of the State and the County applicable to Negotiated FILOT 
Property under the Negotiated FILOT Act, including without limitation the reports required by 
Section 12-44-90 of the Negotiated FILOT Act (collectively, “Filings”); provided, however, that 
the parties hereto hereby waive in its entirety the requirement under Section 12-44-55 of the 
Negotiated FILOT Act for a recapitulation of the terms of this Agreement.  In addition, the 
following records shall be provided to the County: 

(a) Upon direction of the governing body of the County, a County Official may 
request and obtain such financial books and records from any Company and any other 
Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate that support the Negotiated FILOT returns of such Company 
or such other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate as may be reasonably necessary to verify the 
calculations of the Negotiated FILOT Payments by such Company or such other Sponsor 
or Sponsor Affiliate. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “County Official” shall 
include the Administrator, Auditor, Assessor, or Treasurer of the County. 

(b) Each year during the Term, each Company and each other Sponsor or 
Sponsor Affiliate shall deliver to the County Auditor, the County Assessor and the County 
Treasurer of the County a copy of any form or return it files with the Department of 
Revenue with respect to its respective portion of the Project at the same time as delivery 
thereof to the Department of Revenue. 

(c) The Operating Company shall cause a copy of this Agreement, as well as a 
copy of the completed Form PT-443 required by the Department of Revenue, to be filed 
within thirty (30) days after the date of original execution and delivery hereof with the 
County Auditor, the County Assessor and the County Treasurer of the County, and of each 
other county which is a party to the Multi-County Park Agreement, and with the 
Department of Revenue and shall update such Form PT-443 from time to time to the extent 
that the information therein is no longer accurate. 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section, each Company and each other 
Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate may, by clear, written designation, conspicuously marked, designate 
with respect to any Filings or other documents or information delivered to the County segments 
thereof that such Company or such other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate believes contains 
proprietary, confidential, or trade secret matters.  The County shall comply with all reasonable, 
written requests made by such Company or any such other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate with 
respect to maintaining the confidentiality of such designated segments.  Except to the extent 
required by law, and unless the County has provided at least fifteen (15) days advance written 
notice to the Companies or such other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate of such proposed release, the 
County shall not knowingly and voluntarily release any Filing, documents, or other information 
provided to the County by any Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate in connection 
with the Project, whether or not such information has been designated as confidential or proprietary 
by any Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate. 



  

 19  

Section 4.07. Funding for Special Source Improvements. The Companies and each 
other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate shall provide, or cause the provision of, funding for the Special 
Source Improvements related to its respective portion of the Project. 

Section 4.08. Indemnification Covenants. 

(a) Notwithstanding any other provisions in this Agreement or in any other 
agreements between any Company and the County, each Company shall agree to indemnify, 
defend, and save the County, its Council members, elected officials, officers, employees, 
servants and agents (collectively, the “Indemnified Parties”), harmless against and from all 
claims brought against the Indemnified Parties by or on behalf of any third party person, firm 
or corporation arising from the conduct or management of, or from any work or thing done 
on its respective portion of the Project by such Company or any Sponsor Affiliate designated 
by such Company hereunder, their members, officers, shareholders, employees, servants, 
contractors, and agents during the Term (regardless of when such claim is asserted), and each 
Company further shall indemnify, defend, and save the Indemnified Parties harmless against 
and from all claims brought against the Indemnified Parties arising during the Term 
(regardless of when such claim is asserted) from (i) any condition of its respective portion of 
the Project, (ii) any breach or default on the part of such Company or any Sponsor Affiliate 
designated by such Company hereunder in the performance of any of its obligations under 
this Agreement, (iii) any act of negligence of such Company or any Sponsor Affiliate 
designated by such Company hereunder or its agents, contractors, servants, employees or 
licensees, (iv) except in such cases where the County has released such Company pursuant 
to Section 6.01 hereof, any act of negligence of any assignee or lessee of such Company or 
any Sponsor Affiliate designated by such Company hereunder, or of any agents, contractors, 
servants, employees or licensees of any assignee or lessee of such Company or any Sponsor 
Affiliate designated by such Company hereunder, or (v) any environmental violation, 
condition, or effect with respect to its respective portion of the Project.  Each Company shall 
indemnify and save the Indemnified Parties harmless from and against all reasonable costs 
and expenses incurred by the Indemnified Parties in connection with defending against any 
such claim arising as aforesaid or in connection with defending against any action or 
proceeding brought thereon, and upon notice from the Indemnified Parties, such Company 
shall defend it in any such action, prosecution or proceeding with legal counsel of such 
indemnifying Company’s choice, which is acceptable to the County, which acceptance shall 
not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. 

(b) Notwithstanding the fact that it is the intention of the parties that the 
Indemnified Parties shall not incur pecuniary liability during the Term by reason of the terms 
of this Agreement, or the undertakings required of the County hereunder, by reason of the 
granting of the Negotiated FILOT, by reason of the execution of this Agreement, by reason 
of the performance of any act requested of it by any Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, or 
by reason of the operation of the Project by any Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, 
nevertheless, if the County, its agents, officers or employees should incur any such pecuniary 
liability during the Term of this Agreement, then in such event the Companies shall 



  

 20  

indemnify, defend, and hold them harmless against all claims by or on behalf of any third 
party person, firm or corporation, arising out of the same, and all reasonable costs and 
expenses incurred in connection with defending against any such claim or in connection with 
defending against any such action or proceeding brought thereon, and upon reasonable 
notice, the Companies shall defend them in any such action or proceeding with legal counsel 
of the Companies’ choice, which is acceptable to the County, which acceptance shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. 

(c) The above-referenced indemnification covenants shall be considered 
included in and incorporated by reference in subsequent documents after the delivery of this 
Agreement which the County is requested to sign on behalf of any Company, if any, with 
respect to the Project, and any other indemnification covenants in any such subsequent 
documents shall not be construed to reduce or limit the above indemnification covenants. 

 
(d) No termination of this Agreement pursuant to any provision elsewhere in 

this Agreement shall relieve any Company of its duties and obligations to make the 
payments required by Section 4.03 hereof, all of which duties and obligations shall survive 
any such termination. 

Section 4.09. Operating Company Certification. On or before the April 30 immediately 
following the end of the Compliance Period, the Operating Company will provide, or cause to be 
provided, a written certification to the County, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the 
County, the Operating Company, and the Real Property Owner, reflecting (i) the highest level of 
aggregate investment in the Project (without regard to depreciation or other diminution in value) 
within the Compliance Period and (ii) aggregate investment in Special Source Improvements 
(without regard to depreciation or other diminution in value) within the Compliance Period.  
Thereafter, during the remaining term of the Special Source Credits set forth in Section 3.02 
hereof, on or before each subsequent April 30, the Operating Company will provide, or cause to 
be provided, a written certification to the County, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to 
the County, the Operating Company, and the Real Property Owner, reflecting aggregate 
investment in Special Source Improvements (without regard to depreciation and other diminution 
in value) as of the immediately preceding December 31. 

ARTICLE V 
 

FEES IN LIEU OF TAXES 

Section 5.01. Payment of Fees in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes. 

(a) In accordance with the Negotiated FILOT Act, the parties hereto hereby 
agree, during the Term, that there shall be due annually with respect to that portion of the 
Project constituting Negotiated FILOT Property, whether owned by any Company or by 
any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate, a Negotiated FILOT Payment calculated as set 
forth in this Section, at the places, in the manner and subject to the penalty assessments 
prescribed by the County or the Department of Revenue for ad valorem taxes.  It is 



  

 21  

presently anticipated, but not required, that the initial Negotiated FILOT Payment, which 
shall be due under current Code requirements on the January 15 following the year in which 
the County adds the initial Negotiated FILOT Property to its tax rolls, will be due on 
January 15, 2024. If any Company designates any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliates as 
the same shall have been consented to by the County, if such consent is required pursuant 
to Section 6.02 hereof, such Company must notify the County in writing at the time of such 
designation as to whether such additional Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate shall be primarily 
liable for the Negotiated FILOT Payments due hereunder with respect to such Sponsor or 
Sponsor Affiliate’s respective portion of the Negotiated FILOT Property.  Unless and until 
such additional notification is received, each Company shall be primarily liable for all 
Negotiated FILOT Payments due with respect to such respective Company’s portion of the 
Negotiated FILOT Property. 

(b) Subject to adjustment pursuant to the provisions of this Section 5.01, the 
Negotiated FILOT shall be calculated each year in accordance with the following 
provisions: 

(i) For each annual increment of investment in Negotiated FILOT 
Property, the annual Negotiated FILOT Payments shall initially be payable for 
a payment period of thirty (30) years.  Accordingly, if such Negotiated FILOT 
Property is placed in service during more than one year, each year’s 
investment during the Investment Period shall be subject to the Negotiated 
FILOT for a payment period of thirty (30) years, up to an aggregate of thirty-
five (35) years or, if the Investment Period is extended as set forth in Section 
4.01(c) hereof, up to an aggregate of forty (40) years. 

(ii) The Negotiated FILOT shall be determined using: (1) an 
assessment ratio of 6%; (2) a millage rate of 332.07 mills, which millage rate 
shall be fixed pursuant to Section 12-44-50(A)(1)(b)(i) of the Negotiated 
FILOT Act for the full term of the Negotiated FILOT; and (3) the fair market 
value of such Negotiated FILOT Property as determined in accordance with 
Section 12-44-50(A)(1)(c) of the Negotiated FILOT Act, which, (A) for real 
property, shall be the fair market value of such property for ad valorem tax 
purposes, determined by appraisal not more than once every five (5) years, 
and (B) for personal property, shall be the original income tax basis for any 
personal property less allowable depreciation (except depreciation due to 
extraordinary obsolescence); provided, however, that any Company or any 
other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate and the County may agree at a later date to 
amend this Agreement as to Negotiated FILOT Property owned by such 
Company or such other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate so as to determine the 
fair market value of any such real property in accordance with any other 
method permitted by the Negotiated FILOT Act; provided, however, any such 
amendment shall require the prior written consent of the Operating Company. 



  

 22  

(iii) All such calculations shall take into account all deductions for 
depreciation or other diminution in value allowed by the Code or by the tax 
laws generally, as well as tax exemptions which would have been applicable 
if such property were subject to ad valorem taxes, except the five-year 
exemption from County taxes allowed for certain manufacturing, distribution, 
corporate headquarters and research and development facilities pursuant to 
Section 3(g) of Article X of the Constitution of the State and Sections 12-37-
220(B)(32) and (34) of the Code; provided, however, the Companies or any 
other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate shall not be entitled to extraordinary 
obsolescence with respect to Negotiated FILOT Property as set forth in 
Section 12-44-50(A)(1)(c)(ii) of the Negotiated FILOT Act. 

(iv) For purposes of calculating the Negotiated FILOT, the 
Negotiated FILOT Property shall not include any Released Property or Non-
Qualifying Property. 

(c) The Negotiated FILOT Payments are to be recalculated: 

(i) to reduce such payments in the event any Company or any other 
Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate disposes of any part of the Negotiated FILOT 
Property within the meaning of Section 12-44-50(B) of the Negotiated FILOT 
Act and as provided in Section 4.01(e)(ii) hereof, by the amount applicable to 
the Released Property;  

(ii) to reduce such payments in the event that the Negotiated 
FILOT Property or any portion thereof is damaged or destroyed, lost or stolen, 
or the subject of condemnation proceedings or otherwise removed from the 
Project as a result of circumstances beyond the control of any Company or any 
other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate; 

(iii) to increase such payments in the event any Company or any 
other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate adds any Negotiated FILOT Property 
(other than Replacement Property) to its respective portion of the Project; or 

(iv) to adjust such payments if any Company or any other Sponsor 
or Sponsor Affiliate elects to convert any portion of the Negotiated FILOT 
Property from the Negotiated FILOT to ad valorem taxes, or to FILOT 
payments pursuant to the Multi-County Park Act, as the case may be, as 
permitted by Section 4.01(e)(iii). 

(d) Upon installation or placing in service of any Replacement Property for any 
Released Property, such Replacement Property shall become subject to Negotiated FILOT 
Payments to the fullest extent allowed by the Negotiated FILOT Act, subject to the 
following rules: 



  

 23  

(i) Such Replacement Property does not have to serve the same 
function as the Released Property it is replacing.  Replacement Property is 
deemed to replace the oldest property subject to the Negotiated FILOT, 
whether real or personal, which is disposed of in the same Property Tax Year 
as the Replacement Property is placed in service.  Replacement Property 
qualifies for Negotiated FILOT Payments up to the original income tax basis 
of the Released Property which it is replacing in the same Property Tax Year.  
More than one piece of property can replace a single piece of property.  To the 
extent that the income tax basis of the Replacement Property exceeds the 
original income tax basis of the Released Property which it is replacing, the 
excess amount is subject to payments equal to the ad valorem taxes, or FILOT 
payments pursuant to the Multi-County Park Act, as the case may be, which 
would have been paid on such property but for this Agreement.  Replacement 
Property is entitled to the Negotiated FILOT Payments for the remaining 
portion of the Negotiated FILOT Payment period set forth in Section 
5.01(b)(i) hereof applicable to the Released Property. 

(ii) Each Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate shall 
maintain, or cause to be maintained, records sufficient to identify all 
Replacement Property it places in service, and the Negotiated FILOT 
Payments with respect thereto shall be calculated using the millage rate and 
assessment ratio provided on the property it is replacing. 

(e) In the event that, for any reason, the Negotiated FILOT Act and/or the 
Negotiated FILOT or any portion thereof is, by a court of competent jurisdiction following 
allowable appeals, declared invalid or unenforceable in whole or in part, or the portion of 
the Project consisting of Negotiated FILOT Property is deemed not to be eligible for a 
Negotiated FILOT pursuant to the Negotiated FILOT Act in whole or in part, the 
Companies and the County express their intentions that such payments be reformed so as 
to afford each Company and each other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate benefits 
commensurate with those intended under this Agreement as then permitted by law, 
including without limitation any benefits afforded under Title 4, Chapter 12 and Title 4, 
Chapter 29 of the Code, as applicable, to the extent allowed by law.  Absent the legal 
authorization to effect such reformation, the Companies and the County agree that there 
shall be due hereunder with respect to the portion of the Negotiated FILOT Property 
affected by such circumstances ad valorem taxes, or FILOT payments pursuant to the 
Multi-County Park Act, as the case may be, and that, to the extent permitted by law, each 
Company and any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate shall be entitled: (1) to enjoy the five-
year exemption from ad valorem taxes, or from FILOT payments pursuant to the Multi-
County Park Act, as the case may be, provided by Article X, Section 3 of the Constitution 
of the State, and any other exemption allowed by law; (2) to enjoy all allowable 
depreciation; and (3) to receive all other tax credits which would be due if such Company 
and each other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate were obligated to pay ad valorem taxes or 
make FILOT payments pursuant to the Multi-County Park Act, as the case may be, 



  

 24  

hereunder. To the extent that under such circumstances the Negotiated FILOT Payments 
hereunder are subject to retroactive adjustment, then there shall be due and payable from 
each Company and any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate, as the case may be, with respect 
to such entity’s portion of the Negotiated FILOT Property in question, an amount equal to 
the difference between the Negotiated FILOT Payments theretofore actually paid and the 
amount which would have been paid as ad valorem taxes, or as FILOT payments pursuant 
to the Multi-County Park Act, as the case may be, together with interest on such deficiency 
as provided in Section 12-54-25(D) of the Code (a “Deficiency Payment”). 

(f)  

(i) In the event that the Minimum Statutory Investment 
Requirement is not satisfied by the end of the Compliance Period, then all 
Negotiated FILOT Payments shall revert retroactively to ad valorem taxes, or 
FILOT payments pursuant to the Multi-County Park Act, as the case may be, 
calculated as set forth in paragraph (e) above, and a Deficiency Payment from 
each such owing Company and each other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate shall 
be due and payable with respect to that respective entity’s Negotiated FILOT 
Payments theretofore made.  In the event that the aggregate investment in the 
Project by the Companies and each other Sponsor and Sponsor Affiliate does 
not exceed $5,000,000 by the end of the Compliance Period and any Sponsor 
or Sponsor Affiliate does not satisfy the Minimum Statutory Investment 
Requirement solely through its own direct investment in the Project, then the 
Negotiated FILOT Payments with respect to that portion of the Project owned 
by such non-qualifying Company and each other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate 
shall revert retroactively to ad valorem taxes, or FILOT payments pursuant to 
the Multi-County Park Act, as the case may be, calculated as set forth in 
paragraph (e) above, and such Company and each other Sponsor or Sponsor 
Affiliate shall owe a Deficiency Payment with respect to that entity’s 
Negotiated FILOT Payments theretofore made as to that respective entity’s 
portion of the Project.  To the extent necessary to collect a Deficiency Payment 
under this clause (i) due to failure to satisfy the Minimum Statutory Investment 
Requirement, Section 12-44-140(D) of the Negotiated FILOT Act provides 
that any statute of limitations that might apply pursuant to Section 12-54-85 
of the Code is suspended. 

(ii) In the event that either or both of the Minimum Contractual 
Investment Requirement and the Minimum Jobs Requirement are not satisfied 
by the end of the Compliance Period, but the Minimum Statutory Investment 
Requirement has nevertheless been satisfied by the end of the Compliance 
Period, each Company and each other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate shall 
continue to be eligible to take advantage of the Negotiated FILOT described 
in Section 5.01 hereof, but the County shall have the rights specified in 
Section 4.02 hereof with respect to the Special Source Credits. 



  

 25  

(iii) In the event that the Minimum Statutory Investment 
Requirement is satisfied by the end of the Compliance Period, but following 
the Compliance Period, investment in the Project, without regard to 
depreciation or other diminution in value, falls below the investment level set 
forth in the Minimum Statutory Investment Requirement, then the Project 
shall prospectively be subject to ad valorem taxes, or FILOT payments 
pursuant to the Multi-County Park Act, as the case may be, calculated as set 
forth in paragraph (e) above, in accordance with Section 12-44-140(C) of the 
Negotiated FILOT Act, commencing with any Negotiated FILOT Payments 
due with respect to Project property placed in service as of the end of the 
Property Tax Year in which such deficiency occurs. 

(iv) In accordance with the provisions of Sections 4.01(b) and 6.02 
hereof, except for Existing Property, the investment in all property utilized by 
any Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate at the Land, whether 
owned by any Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate outright or 
utilized by any Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate pursuant 
to any financing agreement or any lease or other arrangement with any 
Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate, and whether or not 
subject to this Agreement, shall be counted toward all investment obligations 
under this Agreement, including, to the extent permitted by law, investment 
obligations under the Negotiated FILOT Act.   

(g) Except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement or as otherwise required by 
the Negotiated FILOT Act, any amounts due to the County under this Section 5.01 as a 
Deficiency Payment or other retroactive payment shall be paid within one hundred eighty 
(180) days following receipt by any Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate 
of notice from the County that such a Deficiency Payment or other retroactive payment is 
due from such entity.   

Section 5.02. Statutory Lien.  The parties hereto acknowledge the County’s right to 
receive Negotiated FILOT Payments hereunder and that the County is entitled to and shall have a 
statutory lien with respect to the Project pursuant to Section 12-44-90(E) of the Negotiated FILOT 
Act and Title 12, Chapter 54 of the Code relating to the collection and enforcement of ad valorem 
property taxes. 

ARTICLE VI 
 

THIRD PARTY ARRANGEMENTS  

Section 6.01. Conveyance of Liens and Interests; Assignment.  The County agrees that 
each Company and each other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate may at any time: (a) transfer all or any 
of its rights and interests hereunder or with respect to all or any part of its respective portion of the 
Project to any Person; or (b) enter into any lending, financing, leasing, security, or similar 
arrangement or succession of such arrangements with any financing entity or other Person with 



  

 26  

respect to this Agreement or all or any part of its respective portion of the Project, including 
without limitation any sale-leaseback, equipment lease, build-to-suit lease, synthetic lease, nordic 
lease, defeased tax benefit or transfer lease, assignment, sublease or similar arrangement or 
succession of such arrangements, regardless of the identity of the income tax owner of such portion 
of the Project, whereby the transferee in any such arrangement leases the portion of the Project in 
question to such Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate or operates such assets for 
such Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate or is leasing all or a portion of the Project 
in question from such Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate.  In the event of any 
such transfer, lease, financing, or other transaction described above, the rights and interests of such 
Company or such other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate under this Agreement, including, without 
limitation, the benefits of the Negotiated FILOT, the Special Source Credits, and the Multi-County 
Park, with respect to any Project property so transferred, leased, financed, or otherwise affected 
shall be so transferred and preserved, automatically, without further action of the County or the 
Council, subject to the following provisions: (i) except in connection with any transfer to any other 
Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate or an Affiliate of such Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor 
Affiliate, or transfers, leases, or financing arrangements pursuant to clause (b) above, as to all of 
which transfers and other transactions the County hereby preapproves and consents, such 
Company shall obtain the prior consent or subsequent ratification of the County, which consent or 
subsequent ratification of the County shall not be unreasonably conditioned, withheld, or delayed; 
(ii) except when a financing entity which is the income tax owner of all or part of the Project 
property is the transferee pursuant to clause (b) above and such financing entity assumes in writing 
the obligations of such Company or any such other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate hereunder, or 
when the County consents in writing or when the transfer relates to Released Property pursuant to 
Section 4.01(e) hereof, no such transfer shall affect or reduce any of the obligations of such 
Company or any such other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate hereunder; (iii) to the extent the 
transferee or financing entity shall become obligated to make Negotiated FILOT payments 
hereunder, the transferee shall assume the then current basis of such Company or any such other 
Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate (or prior transferee) in the Negotiated FILOT Property transferred; 
(iv) such Company or any such other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate, transferee or financing entity 
shall, within sixty (60) days thereof, furnish or cause to be furnished to the County and the 
Department of Revenue notice of any such transfer agreement; and (v) such Company or any such 
other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate and the transferee shall comply with all other requirements of 
the Transfer Provisions in order to preserve the benefits of the Negotiated FILOT.   

Subject to County consent when required under this Section 6.01, and at the expense 
of such Company or any such other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate, the County agrees to take such 
further action and execute such further agreements, documents, and instruments as may be 
reasonably required to effectuate the assumption by any such transferee of all or part of the rights 
of such Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate under this Agreement and/or any 
release of such Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate pursuant to this Section 6.01.   

The County acknowledges that, notwithstanding any of the terms of this Section 6.01 
or this Agreement, the County has no right of consent or subsequent ratification to a change in the 
direct or indirect ownership of any Company. 



  

 27  

Each Company acknowledges that any transfer of an interest under this Agreement or 
in the Negotiated FILOT Property may cause all or part of the Negotiated FILOT Property to 
become ineligible for a Negotiated FILOT or result in penalties under the Negotiated FILOT Act 
absent compliance by any Company or any such Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate with the Transfer 
Provisions.   

Section 6.02. Sponsors and Sponsor Affiliates.  Any Company may designate from time 
to time other Sponsors or Sponsor Affiliates pursuant to the provisions of Sections 12-44-30(19) 
or (20), respectively, and Section 12-44-130 of the Negotiated FILOT Act, which Sponsors or 
Sponsor Affiliates shall be Persons who join with the Companies and make investments with 
respect to the Project, or who participate in the financing of such investments, who agree to be 
bound by the terms and provisions of this Agreement and who shall be Affiliates of any Company 
or other Persons described in Section 6.01(b) hereof; provided, however, any such designation by 
the Real Property Owner shall, during the term of any lease or similar agreement between the 
Operating Company and the Real Property Owner, require the prior written consent of the 
Operating Company, which prior written consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, 
or delayed.  All other Sponsors or Sponsor Affiliates who otherwise meet the requirements of 
Section 12-44-30 (19) or (20) and Section 12-44-130 of the Negotiated FILOT Act must be 
approved by resolution of the Council.  To the extent that a Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate invests 
an amount equal to the Minimum Statutory Investment Requirement at the Project by the end of 
the Compliance Period all investment by such Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate shall qualify for the 
Negotiated FILOT payable under Section 5.01 hereof (subject to the other conditions set forth 
therein) in accordance with Section 12-44-30(19) of the Negotiated FILOT Act.  To the extent that 
the aggregate investment in the Project by the end of the Compliance Period by the Companies, 
all Sponsors and Sponsor Affiliates and, to the extent provided by law, other Sponsor or Sponsor 
Affiliates, exceeds $5,000,000 as provided in Section 12-44-30(19) of the Negotiated FILOT Act, 
all investment by such Sponsors and Sponsor Affiliates during the Investment Period shall qualify 
for the Negotiated FILOT pursuant to Section 5.01 of this Agreement (subject to the other 
conditions set forth therein) regardless of whether each such entity invested amounts equal to the 
Minimum Statutory Investment Requirement by the end of the Compliance Period.  The 
Companies shall provide the County and the Department of Revenue with written notice of any 
Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate designated pursuant to this Section 6.02 within ninety (90) days after 
the end of the calendar year during which any such Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate has placed in 
service Negotiated FILOT Property to be used in connection with the Project, all in accordance 
with Section 12-44-130(B) of the Negotiated FILOT Act. 

ARTICLE VII 
 

TERM; TERMINATION 

Section 7.01. Term.  Unless sooner terminated pursuant to the terms and provisions herein 
contained, this Agreement shall be and remain in full force and effect for a term commencing on 
the date on which the Companies execute this Agreement and ending at midnight on the later of 



  

 28  

(i) the day the last Negotiated FILOT Payment is made hereunder, or (ii) the day that all Special 
Source Credits due from the County hereunder have been fully provided by the County. 

Section 7.02. Termination.  In addition to the termination rights of the County under 
Section 8.02(a) hereof, the County and the Companies may jointly agree to terminate this 
Agreement at any time, or each of the Operating Company, and (with the prior written consent of 
the Operating Company) the Real Property Owner, may, at its option, unilaterally terminate this 
Agreement at any time, with respect to all, or any portion, of its respective portion of the Project 
in which event the Project, or such portion of the Project, shall be subject to ad valorem taxes, or 
to FILOT payments pursuant to the Multi-County Park Act, as the case may be, from the date of 
termination.  Notwithstanding the termination of this Agreement, the County shall have the same 
rights to receive payment for any retroactive ad valorem taxes, Deficiency Payments, interest or 
penalties, and the same enforcement rights with respect to such obligations as it would have with 
respect to ad valorem taxes, and the County’s rights arising under Section 5.01 prior to the time 
of such termination shall survive any such termination. 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

Section 8.01. Events of Default.  Any one or more of the following events (herein called 
an “Event of Default”, or collectively “Events of Default”) shall constitute an Event of Default by 
any Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate (the “Defaulting Entity”) but only with 
respect to such Defaulting Entity’s rights, duties, and obligations contained herein: 

(a) if default shall be made in the due and punctual payment of any Negotiated 
FILOT Payments, which default shall not have been cured within sixty (60) days following 
receipt of written notice of such default from the County; or 

(b) if default shall be made in the due performance of or compliance with any 
of the terms hereof, other than those referred to in the foregoing paragraph (a), and such 
default shall continue for ninety (90) days after the County shall have given the Defaulting 
Entity written notice of such default; provided, the County may, in its discretion, grant the 
Defaulting Entity a longer period of time as necessary to cure such default if the Defaulting 
Entity proceeds with due diligence to cure such default; provided however, that no Event 
of Default shall exist under this Agreement during any period when there is pending, before 
any judicial or administrative tribunal having jurisdiction, any proceeding in which the 
Defaulting Entity has contested the occurrence of such default. 

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, failure to meet any investment or job creation 
requirements, thresholds, or levels set forth in this Agreement shall not be deemed to be an Event 
of Default under this Agreement, but may terminate certain benefits hereunder or obligate a 
Company or other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliates, as the case may be, to make certain additional 
payments to the County, all as set forth in Sections 4.02 and 5.01(f) hereof. 
 



  

 29  

Section 8.02. Remedies on Event of Default.  Upon the occurrence of any Event of 
Default, the following remedies may be exercised by the County only as to the Defaulting Entity: 

(a) the County may terminate this Agreement by delivery of written notice to 
the Defaulting Entity not less than sixty (60) days prior to the termination date specified 
therein; or 

(b) the County may have access to and inspect, examine, and make copies of 
the books and records of the Defaulting Entity pertaining to the construction, acquisition, 
or maintenance of the Project or calculation of the Negotiated FILOT as provided in 
Section 4.06 hereof; or 

(c) the County may take whatever action at law or in equity as may appear 
necessary or desirable to collect the amount then due or enforce the County’s rights 
hereunder, it being the express intent of the parties hereto that the County, without 
limitation, shall have the same remedies available by law to collect Negotiated FILOT 
Payments as if they were delinquent ad valorem tax payments, including execution upon 
the lien referred to in Section 5.02 hereof. 

Section 8.03. Defaulted Payments.  In the event any Company or any other Sponsor or 
Sponsor Affiliate should fail to make any of the payments required to be made by such entity under 
this Agreement, the item or installment so in default shall continue as an obligation of such entity 
until the amount in default shall have been fully paid.  If any such default relates to its obligations 
to make Negotiated FILOT Payments hereunder, such entity shall pay the same with interest 
thereon at the rate per annum provided by the Code for late payment of ad valorem taxes together 
with any penalties provided by the Code for late payment of ad valorem taxes, all as provided in 
Section 12-44-90 of the Negotiated FILOT Act. 

Section 8.04. Default by County.  Upon the default of the County in the performance of 
any of its obligations hereunder, any Company and any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate may 
take whatever action at law or in equity as may appear necessary or desirable to enforce its rights 
under this Agreement, including without limitation a suit for mandamus or specific performance. 

ARTICLE IX 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 9.01. Rights and Remedies Cumulative.  Each right, power, and remedy of the 
County or of any Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate provided for in this 
Agreement shall be cumulative and concurrent and shall be in addition to every other right, power, 
or remedy provided for in this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity, in any 
jurisdiction where such rights, powers, and remedies are sought to be enforced; and the exercise 
by the County or by any Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate of any one or more 
of the rights, powers, or remedies provided for in this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at 
law or in equity or by statute or otherwise shall not preclude the simultaneous or later exercise by 



  

 30  

the County or by any Company or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate of any or all such other 
rights, powers, or remedies. 

Section 9.02. Successors and Assigns.  The terms and provisions of this Agreement shall 
be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto, any Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate, 
and their respective successors and assigns as permitted hereunder; provided, however, that 
notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the County may not assign any or all of its rights, 
duties, and obligations in, to, and under this Agreement without the written consent of the 
Companies, which consent may be provided by the Companies in their sole discretion. 

Section 9.03. Notices; Demands; Requests.  All notices, demands, and requests to be 
given or made hereunder to or by the County or any Company shall be in writing and shall be 
deemed to be properly given or made if sent by United States first class mail, postage prepaid, or 
reputable courier service, to the following persons and addresses or to such other persons and 
places as may be designated in writing by such party. 

 (a)  As to the County: 

Anderson County 
Attn: County Administrator 
PO Box 8002 
Anderson, South Carolina 29622 
 

 (b)  with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: 

Anderson County 
Attn: County Attorney 
PO Box 8002 
Anderson, South Carolina 29622 
 

(c)  As to the Operating Company: 
 
FedEx Ground Package System, Inc. 
Attn: Joseph Kain, Senior Tax Analyst 
3630 Hacks Cross Road, Building C – 3rd Floor 
Memphis, Tennessee 38125 
 

(d)  with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: 
 
Nexsen Pruet, LLC 
Attn: Tushar V. Chikhliker 
1230 Main Street, Suite 700  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201 
 

(e)  As to the Real Property Owner: 



  

 31  

 
Evergreen Road Anderson, LLC 
Attn: Jason K. Bria 
6101 Carnegie Boulevard, Suite 180 
Charlotte, North Carolina 28209 
 

(f)  with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: 
 
Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP 
Attn: Sam Moses 
1221 Main Street, Suite 1500 
Columbia, South Carolina 29201 
 

Section 9.04. Applicable Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State.  To the extent of any conflict between the provisions of this 
Agreement and the Act, the Act controls. 

Section 9.05. Entire Understanding.  This Agreement expresses the entire understanding 
and all agreements of the parties hereto with each other and supersedes all prior and 
contemporaneous discussions of the parties hereto, whether oral or written, and neither party hereto 
has made or shall be bound by any agreement or any warranty or representation to the other party 
which is not expressly set forth in this Agreement or in certificates delivered in connection with 
the execution and delivery hereof.  Unless as otherwise expressly set forth herein, this Agreement 
will not confer any rights or remedies upon any Person other than the parties hereto and their 
respective successors and assigns as permitted hereunder. 

Section 9.06. Severability.  In the event that any clause or provision of this Agreement 
shall be held to be invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, the invalidity of such clause or 
provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions hereof. 

Section 9.07. Headings and Table of Contents; References.  The headings of this 
Agreement and any Table of Contents annexed hereto are for convenience of reference only and 
shall not define or limit the provisions hereof or affect the meaning or interpretation hereof.  All 
references in this Agreement to particular Articles or Sections or paragraphs of this Agreement are 
references to the designated Articles or Sections or paragraphs of this Agreement. 

Section 9.08. Multiple Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in multiple 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original but all of which shall constitute but one and the 
same instrument. 

Section 9.09. Amendments.  Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 12-44-40(K)(2) 
of the Negotiated FILOT Act, this Agreement may be amended, or the rights and interest of the 
parties hereto hereunder surrendered, only by a writing signed by both parties hereto. 



  

 32  

Section 9.10. Waiver.  Either party hereto may waive compliance by the other party hereto 
with any term or condition of this Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party. 

Section 9.11. Further Proceedings.  The parties hereto intend any action to be taken 
hereinafter by the County pursuant to the express provisions of this Agreement may be undertaken 
by the Chairman of the Council without necessity of further proceedings.  To the extent additional 
proceedings are required by law, however, the County agrees to undertake all such steps as may 
be reasonably required or appropriate to effectuate the intent of this Agreement. 

Section 9.12. Disparity or Ambiguity with Inducement Resolution. In the event of any 
disparity or ambiguity between the terms and provisions of the Inducement Resolution and the 
terms and provisions of this Agreement and the Approval Ordinance, the terms and provisions of 
this Agreement and the Approval Ordinance shall control. 

 

 

[Execution Pages to Follow] 



 

   

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto, each after due authorization, have executed 
this Fee in Lieu of Tax and Incentive Agreement to be effective as of the date first written above. 

 
ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA  

By: _________________________________________ 
Tommy Dunn, Chairman of County Council 
Anderson County, South Carolina 
 

[SEAL] 
 

ATTEST: 

_________________________________________ 
Renee D. Watts, Clerk to Council 
Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

________________________________________ 
Leon Harmon, County Attorney 
Anderson County, South Carolina 



 

   

FEDEX GROUND PACKAGE SYSTEM, INC. 
 
 
By: _______________________________ 
Name: _____________________________ 
Its: ________________________________ 

 
 



 

   

EVERGREEN ROAD ANDERSON, LLC 
 
By: Evergreen Road Anderson Investments, LLC,  
its sole manager 
 
By: _______________________________ 
Name: Jason K. Bria 
Its: Authorized Signatory 



 

 A-1  

EXHIBIT A 
 

LAND DESCRIPTION 
 
All that certain piece parcel or lot of land, situate, lying and being in the County of Anderson, State 
of South Carolina, being shown and designated as containing 41.609 acres, more or less, on that 
certain survey entitled “Boundary Survey of 41.609 ACRES Located on S.C. 81 North & 
Evergreen Road”, prepared by Samuel B. Glenn, Jr. of Glenn Surveyors, Inc., dated January 18, 
2022 and recorded on January 25, 2022 in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Anderson County 
in Plat Book/Slide 2881, Page 3. The said 41.609 acres having the courses and distances, metes 
and bounds as upon said survey appear which are hereby incorporated by reference as though fully 
set out herein. 
 
TMS No. 144-00-04-008 



ORDINANCE NO. 2022-016 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE TRANSFER OF REAL PROPERTY LOCATED 
AT 1299 THREE AND TWENTY ROAD, EASLEY, SOUTH CAROLINA (TMS NO. 163-
00-09-008) TO THE THREE AND TWENTY FIRE DEPARTMENT TRUSTEES; AND 
OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO; 
 
 WHEREAS, Anderson County currently owns a tract of real property (the “Property”) 

located at 1299 Three and Twenty Road, Easley, South Carolina and further identified by Tax Map 

Number 163-00-09-008; 

 WHEREAS, Anderson County acquired the Property by Deed from the Trustees for the 

Three and Twenty Grange Number 483 dated October 13, 1975 and recorded in the Register of 

Deeds office in Book 18-B at page 202; 

 WHEREAS, Anderson County previously used the Property as a solid waste convenience 

center and ceased using the property on or about June 25, 2015 when the Slabtown convenience 

center was opened. 

 WHEREAS, the Three and Twenty Fire Department is located adjacent to the Property 

and desires to own the Property and utilize it as a training site; 

 WHEREAS, Anderson County, South Carolina, acting by and through its County Council, 

is authorized under Title 4 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, as amended, to lease, sell, or 

otherwise dispose of real and personal property. 

  NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by the Anderson County Council in meeting 

duly assembled that: 

  1. The Anderson County Council hereby approves the transfer of the real 

property located at 1299 Three and Twenty Road, Easley, South Carolina, TMS No.: 163-00-09-

008 to the Three and Twenty Fire Department for use as a training site.  The Chairman of County 

Council and the County Administrator are hereby authorized, empowered, and directed to execute, 



acknowledge, and deliver all documents in the name of and on behalf of the County to carry out 

the transaction contemplated by this Ordinance, including without limitation deeds, affidavits, 

settlement statements, and other such documents necessary and appropriate to the transfer of the 

property. 

 2. The remaining terms and provisions of the Anderson County Code of Ordinances 

not revised or affected hereby remain in full force and effect. 

 3. Should any part or provision of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 

unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such determination shall not affect the 

remainder of this Ordinance, all of which is hereby deemed separable. 

 4. All Ordinances, Orders, Resolutions, and actions of Anderson County Council 

inconsistent herewith are, to the extent of such inconsistency only, hereby repealed, revoked, and 

rescinded. 

 5. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force upon the Third Reading and 

Enactment by Anderson County Council. 

 
ORDAINED in meeting duly assembled this 17th day of May, 2022. 
 
 
ATTEST:          FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 
 

Rusty Burns      Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
 

Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 
 
 
 

1st  Reading:       April 19, 2022 

2
nd

Reading:        May 3, 2022 

3
rd Reading:       May 17, 2022 

 
Public Hearing:  May 17, 2022 
 

 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2022-020 

AN ORDINANCE IMPOSING A PROHIBITION ON CERTAIN MOTOR VEHICLE TRAFFIC ON MASSEY ROAD 
(C-02-0100); AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

 WHEREAS, the State of South Carolina (the “State”) and certain of its political subdivisions have 
the authority, pursuant to Title 56, Chapter 5 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, 1976, as amended (the 
“State Code”), to regulate the use of State highways and roadways through the establishment of traffic 
regulations;  

 WHEREAS, Anderson County (the “County”), a body politic and corporate and political 
subdivision of the State of South Carolina, acting by and through its County Council (the “Council”), is 
responsible for the creation, management, upkeep, maintenance, and safety of all public roads in the 
County not designated as either State or Federal roadways or highways;  

 WHEREAS, the County, acting by and through its Council, is authorized by Section 56-5-4210 of 
the State Code to regulate or prohibit, in whole or in part, the operation of any specified class of size of 
motor vehicle on County maintained roads, whenever such regulation is necessary to provide for the 
public safety;  

 WHEREAS, truck traffic has increased on Massey Road, which is a local road not intended for 
heavy vehicle use of a constant nature, to the degree that truck traffic is endangering residents living in 
the area as well as the motorists who utilize the road located therein;   

 WHEREAS, the subject road is more particularly described as: Massey Road (C-02-0100), as set 
forth in Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof (the “Road”);  

 WHEREAS, the County has performed traffic count studies on the Road to represent daily traffic 
and those results are set forth in Exhibit B attached hereto and made a part hereof: and, 

 WHEREAS, County Council desires to restrict trucks and other large vehicles from using the Road 
by posting notice and enforcing prohibition against “through trucks in excess of six (6) wheels” on the 
Road. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by Anderson County Council, in meeting duly assembled, that: 

1. Anderson County hereby imposes, and shall post notice of, a prohibition against “through trucks 
in excess of six (6) wheels,” pursuant to Section 56-5-4210 of the State Code, on the Road.  
 

2. Once the new prohibition has been imposed and posted, any single-unit or multi-unit truck or 
other motor vehicles, as defined in Section 56-3-20 of the State Code, in excess of six (6) wheels, 
shall be prohibited from traveling upon the Road except as set forth below in Paragraph 3 
below.  
 
 



3. This Ordinance shall not apply to federal, state, county, municipal and other public service 
maintenance and emergency vehicles and school buses, nor delivery or commercial vehicles 
serving local addresses.  
 

4. Should any term, provision, or content of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 
otherwise unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such determination shall have 
no effect on the remainder of this Ordinance, all of which is hereby deemed separable.  
 

5. All ordinances, orders, resolutions, and actions of Anderson County Council inconsistent 
herewith are, to the extent of such inconsistency only, hereby repealed, revoked, and 
superseded.  
 

6. This Ordinance shall become effective and be in full force and effect from and after the public 
hearing and the third reading in accordance with the Code of Ordinances, Anderson County, 
South Carolina.  

ORDAINED in meeting duly assembled, this _____day of _____, 2022. 

ATTEST:      FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 

 
              
Rusty Burns      Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator    Anderson County Council 
 
 
 
        
Renee D. Watts       
Anderson County Clerk to Council 
           
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
   
 
        
Leon C. Harmon       
County Attorney 
 

 

First Reading:    , 2022    
Second Reading:   , 2022     
Public Hearing:    , 2022 
Third Reading:   , 2022 
 
     
    



Mountain View Rd
567

Fir
eto

wer 
Rd

C-2-
101Old Greenville Hwy

SC-88

Massey Rd
C-2-100

Moore RdC-2-78

Lowe Rd292

Highway 81 N

SC-81

Mountain View Rd
567

Bagwell R
d

C-2-84

Hamlin Rd

C-2-137

Pickens Dr
58

Highway 17

17

Campbell Rd
1084

Ha
ll R

d
C-

2-1
16

Slabtown Rd
169

Gale Dr
C-2-106

Browning Rd
C-2-96

Pisgah Rd

C-2-115

Westwood Dr
C-2-97

Pelzer Hwy
SC-8

Forest Glen Dr

C-6-63

Ro
pe

r R
d

29
0

Th
re

e A
nd

 Tw
en

ty 
Rd

48
5

Queen Anne LnC-3-33G

Christopher Ln

C-3-33F

Shadow Oaks Dr

C-2-115A

Woodland Dr

C-2-129

Arizona Rd734

Wi
lde

rn
es

s T
r

C-
2-1

37
C Ro
pe

r R
d

C-
2-8

3

Oak PtC-3-33H Su
rry

 D
r

C-
3-3

4C

Chestnut Springs Way

C-2-1
95

Highpoint Rd
C-2-100A

Shadow Hills Dr

C-3-33D
Merritt Rd

C-3-33A

Hamilton Ln
C-3-34D

Old Greenville Hwy

SC-8

Lydia Dr
C-2-137B

Georgetown DrC-3-34B

Shiloh C
ir

C-2-8
5

White Oak Dr
C-2-104

Bagwell Rd

C-3-34G

So
lei

l W
ay

King Arthur Dr

C-6-63A

Mirinda Ln

C-2-78A
Oak Ct

C-2-101A

Oakland Dr
C-2-99

Eliza
bet

h C
ity 

Dr

Moo
re 

Rd
C-3

-33
C

Carolina Dr
P-2-253

Arbor Woods WayP-2-260

Clara Smith Ln
C-2-219

Co
un

try
 Ln

P-
2-1

90

Jericho Cir
P-2-189

Magnolia Farms Way
C-2-248

Campbell Rd
1084

Massey Rd
C-2-100

5/2/2022 Anderson County Roads and Bridges Dept.

·
Exhibit A

Legend
Existing Route

Alternate_ Route

centerline



Page 1 
  
 
 

 
Site Code: 00000000

Station ID: 

Latitude: 0' 0.0000 South

Massey Road ADT

 
Start 19-Apr-21 Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat Sun Week Average
Time Direction 1 Direction Direction Direction Direction Direction Direction Direction Direction Direction Direction Direction Direction Direction Direction Direction

12:00 AM * * * * 2 0 1 1 2 0 6 0 1 2 2 1
01:00 * * * * 0 0 1 0 1 0 4 3 1 3 1 1
02:00 * * * * 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0
03:00 * * * * 0 0 0 1 2 2 0 0 2 0 1 1
04:00 * * * * 0 2 0 2 1 1 0 1 0 1 0 1
05:00 * * * * 0 4 0 2 1 6 1 1 0 3 0 3
06:00 * * * * 5 17 5 21 1 9 3 2 2 1 3 10
07:00 * * * * 9 21 5 22 5 17 2 3 4 5 5 14
08:00 * * * * 6 2 2 7 8 6 3 4 3 4 4 5
09:00 * * 2 6 4 3 8 13 9 12 6 5 4 10 6 8
10:00 * * 3 4 3 11 6 10 5 11 8 8 4 11 5 9
11:00 * * 6 3 10 11 4 5 5 5 2 9 11 11 6 7

12:00 PM * * 12 12 3 8 5 11 2 12 4 5 12 10 6 10
01:00 * * 4 10 5 7 12 18 13 13 4 6 12 12 8 11
02:00 * * 5 6 6 8 12 14 11 9 8 9 11 11 9 10
03:00 * * 10 8 9 8 5 4 8 12 1 2 5 6 6 7
04:00 * * 12 6 11 12 13 14 17 16 7 5 2 7 10 10
05:00 * * 15 7 22 9 22 11 18 6 2 5 7 11 14 8
06:00 * * 11 6 3 5 15 6 9 9 12 8 11 6 10 7
07:00 * * 5 7 2 3 5 3 9 7 5 7 10 7 6 6
08:00 * * 8 8 7 4 4 2 2 5 6 1 5 9 5 5
09:00 * * 9 7 5 6 6 0 4 2 7 3 5 6 6 4
10:00 * * 2 2 3 0 3 4 2 3 35 15 1 2 8 4
11:00 * * 0 3 2 3 4 2 3 0 2 1 3 2 2 2
Lane 0 0 104 95 117 146 139 173 138 163 128 103 117 140 123 144

Day 0 199 263 312 301 231 257 267
AM Peak - - 11:00 09:00 11:00 07:00 09:00 07:00 09:00 07:00 10:00 11:00 11:00 10:00 09:00 07:00

Vol. - - 6 6 10 21 8 22 9 17 8 9 11 11 6 14
PM Peak - - 17:00 12:00 17:00 16:00 17:00 13:00 17:00 16:00 22:00 22:00 12:00 13:00 17:00 13:00

Vol. - - 15 12 22 12 22 18 18 16 35 15 12 12 14 11

jdiagostino
Text Box
Exhibit B



Page 2 
  
 
 

 
Site Code: 00000000

Station ID: 

Latitude: 0' 0.0000 South

Massey Road ADT

 
Start 26-Apr-21 Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat Sun Week Average
Time Direction 1 Direction Direction Direction Direction Direction Direction Direction Direction Direction Direction Direction Direction Direction Direction Direction

12:00 AM 3 1 1 2 * * * * * * * * * * 2 2
01:00 1 1 2 1 * * * * * * * * * * 2 1
02:00 0 1 2 1 * * * * * * * * * * 1 1
03:00 1 4 0 0 * * * * * * * * * * 0 2
04:00 0 3 2 3 * * * * * * * * * * 1 3
05:00 0 5 0 6 * * * * * * * * * * 0 6
06:00 3 11 6 10 * * * * * * * * * * 4 10
07:00 8 27 7 27 * * * * * * * * * * 8 27
08:00 7 9 3 10 * * * * * * * * * * 5 10
09:00 2 4 4 5 * * * * * * * * * * 3 4
10:00 10 9 1 3 * * * * * * * * * * 6 6
11:00 3 10 6 11 * * * * * * * * * * 4 10

12:00 PM 8 7 10 9 * * * * * * * * * * 9 8
01:00 7 10 54 17 * * * * * * * * * * 30 14
02:00 14 5 * * * * * * * * * * * * 14 5
03:00 11 10 * * * * * * * * * * * * 11 10
04:00 17 9 * * * * * * * * * * * * 17 9
05:00 13 8 * * * * * * * * * * * * 13 8
06:00 10 8 * * * * * * * * * * * * 10 8
07:00 4 4 * * * * * * * * * * * * 4 4
08:00 4 7 * * * * * * * * * * * * 4 7
09:00 7 3 * * * * * * * * * * * * 7 3
10:00 2 4 * * * * * * * * * * * * 2 4
11:00 4 1 * * * * * * * * * * * * 4 1
Lane 139 161 98 105 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 161 163

Day 300 203 0 0 0 0 0 324
AM Peak 10:00 07:00 07:00 07:00 - - - - - - - - - - 07:00 07:00

Vol. 10 27 7 27 - - - - - - - - - - 8 27
PM Peak 16:00 13:00 13:00 13:00 - - - - - - - - - - 13:00 13:00

Vol. 17 10 54 17 - - - - - - - - - - 30 14
  
  

Comb.
Total

300 402 263 312 301 231 257 591

  
ADT ADT 283 AADT 283



                 
                
MEMORANDUM 
 ANDERSON COUNTY ROADS AND BRIDGES 

 

Tommy Dunn 
Chairman, District 5 
 

Brett Sanders 
V. Chairman District 4 

John B. Wright 
Council District 1 
 

Glenn Davis 
Council District 2 

Ray Graham 
Council District 3 

 
Jimmy Davis 
Council District 6 

Cindy Wilson 
Council District 7 
 

Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 

Roads & Bridges Department 
735 Michelin Boulevard, Anderson, SC 29626  |  (864) 260-4190 |   Fax (864) 260-4629 |  www.andersoncountysc.org 

 

 
 
 

Rusty Burns | County Administrator 
rburns@andersoncountysc.org 

 

Memorandum 
 
To: Matt Hogan  

From: Norman McGill   

Date: 5/2/2022 

CC: Jill Diagostino  

RE: Massey Truck Restriction Request 

 

As requested, a vehicle classification study was conducted to examine the impact of restricting 
trucks on Massey Road. Massey Road is located in the Williamston and Slabtown area and 
connects SC 88 at Pickens Drive to SC 81. It is functionally classified as a minor collector road. It 
has nine-foot-wide asphalt travel lanes and grassed shoulders. The current average daily traffic 
volume is 283 vehicles for Massey Road. 

 

The data collection was conducted between April 20, 2021, and April 27, 2021. 

Counter was placed on Massey Road 3,020 feet from the intersection of Highway 81. The count 
indicates that 8 percent of the traffic on Massey Road are three axle trucks or larger. 

 

Alternate route for the trucks would be SC 81 to SC 88. This alternate route would add 1.8 miles to 
the trip. 

 

Massey Roads has nine-foot roadway width with several curves and two bridges It can handle 
limited truck travel, but recent classification study indicates an increase in truck travel on this 
route. 

I would recommend that truck restrictions be placed on Massey Road as we have recently had 
maintenance issues due to the increase in large trucks using this route. 

 

Please advise if I can be of any further assistance on this matter. 

 

Thanks, 

 

Norman McGill 



  
 

PPAB 7413567v2 

ORDINANCE NO. 2022-021 
 
 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND AN AGREEMENT FOR THE DEVELOPMENT 

OF A JOINT COUNTY INDUSTRIAL AND BUSINESS PARK (2010 PARK) OF 
ANDERSON AND GREENVILLE COUNTIES SO AS TO ENLARGE THE PARK. 

 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Ordinance No. 2010-026 enacted October 19, 2010 by Anderson County 
Council, Anderson County entered into an Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and 
Business Park (2010 Park) dated as of December 1, 2010, as amended, with Greenville County (the 
“Agreement”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 3(A) of the Agreement, the boundaries of the park created therein 
(the “Park”) may be enlarged pursuant to ordinances of the County Councils of Anderson County and 
Greenville County; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with certain incentives being offered by Greenville County, it is now 
desired that the boundaries of the Park be enlarged to include certain parcels in Greenville County;  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by Anderson County Council that Exhibit A to the 
Agreement is hereby and shall be amended and revised to include property located in Greenville County 
described in the schedule attached to this Ordinance, and, pursuant to Section 3(B) of the Agreement, upon 
adoption by Greenville County of a corresponding ordinance, the Agreement shall be deemed amended to 
so include such property and Exhibit A as so revised, without further action by either county. 
 
 DONE in meeting duly assembled this ____ day of_______________, 2022.  
 
 
 ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

(SEAL) By:________________________________________ 
  Chairman, Anderson County Council 
 
Attest: 

By:_______________________________ 
 Anderson County Administrator 
 
 
By:_______________________________ 
 Clerk to Anderson County Council 
 
 
 
First Reading: May 17, 2022 
Second Reading: _________, 2022  
Third Reading: _________, 2022  
Public Hearing: _________, 2022  
 



A-1 
PPAB 7413567v2 

Addition to Exhibit A to 
Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and 

Business Park dated as of December 1, 2010, as amended, 
between Anderson County and Greenville County 

 
 
 
 



PPAB 7413567v2 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  ) 
      ) 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON    ) 
 
 I, the undersigned Clerk to County Council of Anderson County, South Carolina, do hereby certify 
that attached hereto is a true, accurate and complete copy of an ordinance which was given reading, and 
received majority approval, by the County Council at meetings of May 17, 2022, _________, 20__ and 
_________, 20__, at which meetings a quorum of members of County Council were present and voted, and 
an original of which ordinance is filed in the permanent records of the County Council. 
 
 
      _________________________________________ 
      Clerk, Anderson County Council 
 
 
Dated: _________, 2022 



ORDINANCE NO.: 2022-022 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 38-311(C) OF THE ANDERSON COUNTY, 
SOUTH CAROLINA, CODE OF ORDINANCES TO AMEND THE TIME FRAME FOR 
CONSIDERATION OF PREVIOSULY DISAPPROVED PROJECTS BY THE 
PLANNING COMMISSION; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 
 
 WHEREAS, the Anderson County Council passed Ordinance No. 2022-004 on April 19, 
2022 upon public hearing and third reading;  
 
 WHEREAS, Ordinance No. 2022-004 amended the Anderson County Code of Ordinances 
to add a new Section 38-311(c) which required a six (6) months waiting period after a subdivider 
submits a corrected preliminary plat that is rejected by the Anderson County Planning 
Commission; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Anderson County Council desires to amend Section 38-311(c). 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by the Anderson County Council in meeting duly 
assembled that: 
 
 1. Section 38-311(c) of the Code of Ordinances, Anderson County, South Carolina, is 
hereby amended to read as follows: 
 
     38-311 (c) 

(2)  If the subdivider submits a corrected preliminary plat as provided in 
subsection (1) above and it is rejected by the planning commission, 
no further preliminary plats may be submitted within the next ninety 
(90) days. 

 
  

 2. Should any part or provision of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such determination shall not affect the 
remainder of this Ordinance, all of which is hereby deemed separable. 
 
 3. All Ordinances, Orders, Resolutions, and actions of Anderson County Council 
inconsistent herewith are, to the extent of such inconsistency only, hereby repealed, revoked, and 
rescinded. 
 
 4. This Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force upon the Third Reading and 
Enactment by Anderson County Council. 
 

ORDAINED in meeting duly assembled this ____ day of May, 2022. 
 
 

 
 



ATTEST:          FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 
 

Rusty Burns      Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
 

Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 

1st Reading: _________________ 

2nd Reading:__________________ 

3rd Reading:___________________ 

Public Hearing:________________ 
 



 
RESOLUTION R2022-030 

 
A RESOLUTION EXPRESSING INTENT TO CEASE COUNTY MAINTENANCE ON AND 
TO AUTHORIZE COUNTY CONSENT TO JUDICIAL ABANDONMENT AND CLOSURE 
OF AN UNNAMED ROAD DESIGNATED AS C-07-0054A; AND OTHER MATTERS 
RELATED THERETO. 
 
 WHEREAS, an UNNAMED road (the “Road”) is currently an asphalt Anderson County (the 
“County”) public road, designated as Anderson County Road C-07-0054A; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Road extends 784 feet from McAlister Road and exists on two parcels of 
property identified as Anderson County tax map numbers 196-00-06-008 and 196-00-06-009 all of 
which have common ownership, as shown on the map prepared by Anderson County Roads and 
Bridges Department on March 24, 2022 attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by 
reference; 
 
 WHEREAS, the property owners (hereinafter collective the “Petitioners”) have requested that 
the County abandon said Road in order to deter unsolicited traffic and erect a gate across the road. The 
Petition is attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated herein by reference;  
 
 WHEREAS, the County has complied with all of its Ordinances and Regulations pertaining 
to cessation of County maintenance and County consent to judicial abandonment and closure of 
County public roads, in the case of the above referenced Road; 
 
 WHEREAS, none of the procedures undertaken by the County have revealed or reflected a 
need for said Road to remain under County maintenance or to remain a public road, and the County 
staff have recommended that the County consent to the requested abandonment and judicial closure; 
 
 WHEREAS,  Anderson County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and a political 
subdivision of the State of South Carolina, acting by and through its County Council (the “County 
Council”) desires to express its intent to cease County maintenance on, and to authorize County 
consent to judicial abandonment and closure of the Road; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by Anderson County Council in meeting duly 
assembled that: 
 

1. Anderson County, acting by and through its County Council, consents to the judicial 
abandonment and closure of the unnamed road (C-07-0054A) by the property owners. 

 
2. In the event the unnamed road is closed by a Judicial Order, the county shall 

immediately cease all maintenance of this Road. 
 

3. All orders and resolutions in conflict herewith are, to the extent of such conflict 
only, repealed and rescinded.  

 



4. Should any part or portion of this resolution be deemed unconstitutional or 
otherwise unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such finding shall 
not affect the remainder hereof, all of which is hereby deemed separable.  

 
5.  This resolution shall take effect and be in force immediately upon enactment.  

 
 
 RESOLVED this 17rd day of May, 2022, in meeting duly assembled. 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
              
Rusty Burns      Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator Anderson County Council   
 
 
       
       
Renee D. Watts 
Anderson County Clerk to Council  
 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
       
Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 



1960006009

1960006008

Hig
hw

ay
 29

 N
US

-29
McAlister Rd

144

Breazeale Dr

C-7-51

Cantrell Rd

C-6-33

Anderson Hwy

US-29

Welcome Rd
96

Moore Rd

C-7-50

Crappie Dr
C-7-58B

Non
e

C-7-
54A

McAlist
er C

ir
C-7-5

4

Terrapin Dr
C-7-58C

Boggs Dr
C-7-52

Le
e D

r
C-7

-62

March 24, 2022 Anderson County Roads & Bridges Dept.

±
Exhibit A



Exhibit B



                 
  MEMORANDUM 
     ROADS AND BRIDGES DEPARTMENT 

 

Tommy Dunn 
Chairman, District 5 
 
Brett Sanders 
V. Chairman, District 4 

John B. Wright Jr. 
Council District 1 
 
Glenn Davis 
Council District 2 

Ray Graham 
Council District 3  
 
Jimmy Davis 
Council District 6 

Cindy Wilson 
Council District 7 
 
Renee D. Watts 
Clerk to Council 

PO Box 8002, Anderson, South Carolina 29622-8002 | www.andersoncountysc.org 
 

 
 
 

Rusty Burns | County Administrator 
rburns@andersoncountysc.org 

DATE:   May 9, 2022 
 
TO:   Mr. Rusty Burns 

County Administrator 
 
FROM:   Matt Hogan    

Road and Bridges Manager    
 
SUBJECT:   Proposed abandonment of C-07-0054A, an unnamed road 

Council District Seven 
 
Please see attachments for information on the proposed abandonment of C-7-54A, an 
unnamed road. The property owner has requested abandonment in order to install a gate. 
Both parcels on this dead-end road are owned by the same person. 
 
The landowner’s signed petition is enclosed. The owner was provided a copy of Anderson 
County’s Ordinance of policies and procedures for abandoning and closing public roads, as 
well as a written notice of their responsibility for acquiring legal ownership to the road if 
Council approves abandonment by resolution.  
 
On March 24, 2022, a road closure notification sign was posted on the road. Signs were 
posted for 30 days on April 23, 2022. 
 
Notification of the proposed abandonment was mailed to Emergency Service providers and 
Anderson School District One Transportation Department. Anderson School District 
Transportation has no issue with the abandonment. Buses do not use the road. There was 
no response from Emergency Services. 
 
Our department has conducted a thorough investigation of this road. 

• Public notification signs were posted for 30 days 
• There were no inquiries 
• Section of road is in general public use 
• Road runs McAlister Road to dead end 
• The asphalt road is 784 linear feet and 13 feet wide 
• Prescriptive right-of-way 
• Average Daily Traffic Count is 22 cars per day 

 



                  

                   MEMORANDUM 
                   ANDERSON COUNTY DEPARTMENT NAME | PAGE 2 

                            

 

Tommy Dunn 
Chairman, District 5 
 
Ray Graham 
V. Chairman, District 3 

Craig Wooten 
Council District 1 
 
Gracie Floyd 
Council District 2 

Tom Allen 
Council District 4  
 
Ken Waters 
Council District 6 

Cindy Wilson 
Council District 7 
 
Renee D. Watts 
Clerk to Council 

PO Box 8002, Anderson, South Carolina 29622-8002 | www.andersoncountysc.org 
 

 

 
 
 

Rusty Burns | County Administrator 
rburns@andersoncountysc.org 

With the information provided, I recommend Anderson County abandon interest in this 
road. 
 
For your convenience, photographs and a location map are enclosed. 
 
Enclosures 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Matt Hogan 
 





C-7-54A Unnamed Road Abandonment  
 

View from McAlister Rd 

 

View of End of Road 

 
 



1

Jill Diagostino

From: Matt Hogan
Sent: Thursday, April 7, 2022 1:15 PM
To: Jill Diagostino
Subject: Fwd: 418 McAlister Rd

 

Sent from my iPhone 
 
Begin forwarded message: 

From: Benny Bridges <bridgesbe@apps.anderson1.org> 
Date: April 7, 2022 at 1:03:32 PM EDT 
To: Matt Hogan <wmhogan@andersoncountysc.org> 
Cc: Amanda B Friar <friara@apps.anderson1.org> 
Subject: 418 McAlister Rd 

  
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of Anderson County’s email system. Please do not click 
links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe. If you have any 
questions, please contact the county helpdesk. 
   
Mr. Hogan, 
  
After reviewing the route data for this area it has been determined that the closure of C-7-54A off 
McAlister Rd would not have an impact on our bus routing.  I appreciate you checking with us on this 
matter. 
  
Thanks, 
  

Benny Bridges, Jr 
Transportation Director 
Anderson School District One 
Transportation Office 
bridgesbe@apps.anderson1.org 
864-947-8989 or 864-232-6619 Office Phone 
864-947-9881 Fax 
  
 

NOTICE: Employees are reminded of Board Policy IJNDB-R, which governs e-mail and Internet usage, and 
are advised to act accordingly. Recipients of e-mail sent through Anderson One's system should 
understand that it may contain confidential, proprietary, or privileged material. If you have received the 
above e-mail or any attachments in error, this does not constitute permission to examine, copy, or 
distribute the information.Prompt notification to the sender of the error would be appreciated. 


















































































	Agenda CCM May 17, 2022
	2a R2022-026 Jacky Hunter
	2b R2022-029 National Safe Boating Week
	2c R2022-031 Braxton Loich
	3 Minutes CCM May 3, 2022
	5a Ordinance 2022-012 Project Highway 81 Logistics
	5b Ordinance 2022-016 Property Transfer Three & Twenty Road
	7a Ordinance 2022-020 Massey Road
	7b Ordinance 2022-021 Project Kane
	7c Ordinance 2022-022 Amend Section 38-311(c)
	8a R2022-030 Abandonment Road C-07-0054A
	9 Paving Request Getsinger Drive
	10a Appointment Nicole Davenport
	12a Request Violins of Hope
	12b Request Miss SC Scholarship Organization
	13a Budget Transfers
	13b Paving
	13c Special Projects



